SUB	0142	0001	.0001	0001
-	. U 172	.0001	.0001	0000

Roy	/al	Comr	niss	ion	into	the	Manag	gement	of	Pc	olice	Info	ormai	nts
- 4	,							,						

Disclosure Issues

Submission by the Director of Public Prosecutions (Victoria)

19 December 2019

Royal Commission into the Management of Police Informants

Submission by the Director of Public Prosecutions (Victoria) on disclosure issues

Contents

1		INTRODUCTION	1
1.1		THE RELEVANT TERMS OF REFERENCE	1
1.2	2	HOW DISCLOSURE HAS BECOME AN ISSUE FOR THE ROYAL COMMISSION	1
1.3	3	Perspectives on disclosure in Victoria	
1.4		THE ANTERIOR QUESTION: CONTROLS ON THE USE OF HUMAN SOURCES WITH AN OBLIGATION OF CONFIDENC	
1.5	5	ONE "UPSTREAM" ISSUE	6
2		THE DISCLOSURE CONTEXT	7
2.1		THE DEVELOPMENT OF DISCLOSURE PROCEDURES IN VICTORIA	7
2.1		DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS UNDER VICTORIAN LAW	
	- 2.2.		
	2.2.		
	2.2.		
		, ,	
	2.3.		
	2.3.		
3		SOME COMMON PROBLEMS IN DISCLOSURE	
3.1		PROSECUTION RELIANCE ON COMPLIANCE BY INVESTIGATORS	
3.2	_	COMMON CAUSES OF NON-COMPLIANCE.	
3.3		COMMON RISK AREAS FOR NON-COMPLIANCE	
3.4	-	MEASURES TO IMPROVE COMPLIANCE WITH DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS.	
4		LESSONS FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS	22
4.1		United Kingdom	22
	4.1.		
	4.1.	•	
	4.1.		
	4.1.		
4.2	2	CANADA	26
	4.2.	2.1 The Canadian system	27
	4.2.	5	
	4.2.		
	4.3.		
	4.3.	5	
	4.3.		
• • •			
	4.4. 4.4.		
	4.4.		
5		IMPROVING POLICE CAPACITY TO COMPLY WITH DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS	36
5.1		TRAINING AND GUIDANCE	36
5.2	2	Access to legal advice	36
5.3	3	Upgrade of information systems	37
6		ENCOURAGING GREATER POLICE COMPLIANCE WITH DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS	38
6.1	ı	EXPLICIT REQUIREMENT TO DISCLOSE THE EXISTENCE OF PII MATERIAL	
6.2		LEGISLATIVE GUIDANCE ON DISCLOSABLE MATERIAL	
	- 6.2.		40 40
	6.2.		40
	6.2.		
	6.2.		
6.3	3	DUTY TO DISCLOSE TO THE DIRECTOR THE EXISTENCE OF RELEVANT MATERIAL	
	6.3.	3.1 Need for the prosecutor to be informed of the existence of relevant unused material	44
	6.3.	3.2 NSW requirement for investigators to disclose the existence of material to the DPP	44
	6.3.		
	6.3.	· ·	
_			
6.4		CERTIFYING COMPLIANCE WITH DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS.	
	6.4. 6.4.	,	50 EA
	6.4.		
	6.4.	5	
	w. I.	= =:	

7	MONITORING OF POLICE COMPLIANCE	54
7.1	THE NEED FOR MONITORING OF COMPLIANCE	54
7.2	A Disclosure Monitor	
7.3	THE AIMS AND FUNCTIONS OF A MONITORING REGIME	
7.3.		
7.3.		56
7.4	COMPONENTS OF DM REGIME	
7.4.		
7.4.	2 Conduct of reviews	59
7.4.		
7.4.	4 Training role	61
8	RESOLVING PII AND NON-DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS	62
8.1	THE CURRENT PROCESS	
8.2	THE NEED FOR A STATUTORY PROCEDURE FOR RESOLVING ISSUES OF IMMUNITY AND PRIVILEGE	63
8.3	THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN MODEL	
8.3.		64
8.3.		
8.4	A VICTORIAN STATUTORY PROCEDURE	
8.4.		
8.4.		
8.4.		
8.4.		69
8.4.		
8.4. 8.4.	•••	
8.4.		70
	·	
9 PROV	SENTENCING OF CO-OFFENDER OR PROSECUTION WITNESS WHERE RELEVANT ASSISTANC	
9.1	THE LAW IN VICTORIA	
9.2	THE LAW IN OTHER AUSTRALIAN JURISDICTIONS	
9.2.		
9.2.		
9.3 9.4	PROPOSED AMENDMENTS.	
9.4	WHY THE AMENDMENTS ARE NECESSARY	
9.5.		
9.5.		
9.6	RESIDUAL ISSUES RELATING TO DISCLOSURE	
10	CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND OTHER ETHICAL BREACHES	85
10.1	CONDUCT OF DEFENCE LAWYERS	85
10.2	REFORMS TO ETHICAL RULES	
10.2		
10.2	Proposed rule changes	87
10.2		
10.3	REGULATING THE UNETHICAL CONDUCT OF DEFENCE LAWYERS	88
10.3	,	88
10.3		
10.3		
10.3	Review of the powers and functions of legal practitioner regulators	91
11	SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS	93

1 Introduction

1.1 The relevant terms of reference

- 1. This submission is addressed to the following of the Royal Commission's terms of reference, as they relate to disclosure in criminal proceedings:
 - 4. The current use of human source information in the criminal justice system from human sources who are subject to legal obligations of confidentiality or privilege, subject to section 123 of the Inquiries Act 2014, including:
 - a. the appropriateness of Victoria Police's practices around the disclosure or non-disclosure of the use of such human sources to prosecuting authorities; and
 - b. whether there are adequate safeguards in the way in which Victoria Police prosecutes summary cases, and the Office of Public Prosecutions prosecutes indictable matters on behalf of the Director of Public Prosecutions, when the investigation has involved human source material.
 - 5. Recommended measures that may be taken to address:
 - a. the use of any other human sources who are, or have been, subject to legal obligations of confidentiality or privilege and who come to your attention during the course of your inquiry; and
 - b. any systemic or other failures in Victoria Police's processes for its disclosures about and recruitment, handling and management of human sources who are subject to legal obligations of confidentiality or privilege, and in the use of such human source information in the broader criminal justice system, including how those failures may be avoided in future.
 - 6. Any other matters necessary to satisfactorily resolve the matters set out in paragraphs 1-5.
- 2. As they relate to disclosure in criminal proceedings, the major focus of these terms of reference is disclosure by Victoria Police, both to prosecuting authorities and generally, in relation to the use of human sources who are subject to legal obligations of confidentiality or privilege. In summary, the Commission is required to consider:
 - the appropriateness of Victoria Police practices around the disclosure or non-disclosure of the use of such human sources;
 - the adequacy of safeguards in the way in matters are prosecuted, when the investigation has involved such human source material; and
 - any systemic or other failures in Victoria Police's processes for disclosure about the use of such human source information.

1.2 How disclosure has become an issue for the Royal Commission

- 3. Although it is well known to the Commission, it is worth recounting for the public record how disclosure came to be an issue for the Royal Commission, and to explain the context underlying this submission.
- 4. The sequence of relevant events was as follows:

For a number of years (the precise period is a matter to be determined by the Commission), Victoria Police used Ms Nicola Gobbo, a barrister practising in criminal law, as a human source. For at least part of that period, Ms Gobbo was referred to by the code 3838. Amongst other things, Ms Gobbo provided information to Victoria Police about her current or former clients, at least some of it in breach of her ethical obligations to those clients.

The police use of Ms Gobbo as a source was a closely-guarded secret. Neither the Director of Public Prosecutions (**DPP**) nor the Office of Public Prosecutions (**OPP**) was informed.

In 2012, Mr Neil Comrie AO, APM conducted a confidential case review of Victoria Police's general handling of Ms Gobbo as a human source. Mr Comrie's report, which was provided on 30 July 2012, was critical of a number of aspects of the police use and handling of Ms Gobbo.

On 6 February 2015, the Honourable Murray Kellam QC, acting as delegate of the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (**IBAC**), provided a report entitled 'Report concerning Victoria Police handling of Human Source code name 3838' (**Kellam Report**);

On 23 February 2015, and in accordance with recommendation 12 of the Kellam Report, the then DPP, Mr John Champion SC, commenced a review of the prosecutions of seven of Ms Gobbo's former clients, being the seven clients who Mr Kellam had used as examples in the Kellam Report. Each of the seven had been convicted in proceedings on indictment. (In subsequent litigation they were referred to as "the convicted persons".)

In a letter dated 10 March 2016, Mr Champion informed the Chief Commissioner of Police that he was "firmly of the opinion that I have an obligation to disclose at least some of the contents of the Kellam Report to those that may be affected by the matters discussed therein."

By an originating motion filed in the Supreme Court of Victoria on 10 June 2016, the Chief Commissioner commenced proceedings against the DPP seeking declaratory relief to prevent the DPP from making any disclosure.

By a writ and statement of claim dated 15 November 2016, Ms Gobbo commenced proceedings against the DPP seeking declarations to prevent the DPP from making any disclosure to the convicted persons.

By orders dated 21 June 2017, Ginnane J dismissed both proceedings.¹

¹ AB and EF v CD [2017] VSC 350; EF v CD [2017] VSC 351.

On 21 November 2017, in a unanimous judgment, the Court of Appeal (Ferguson CJ, Osborn and McLeish JJA) granted the Chief Commissioner of Police and Ms Gobbo leave to appeal against the decision of Ginnane J, but dismissed the appeal in each proceeding.² On 9 May 2018, the High Court granted the Chief Commissioner of Police and Ms Gobbo special leave to appeal from the decision of the Court of Appeal in each proceeding.

On 5 November 2018, in a unanimous decision, the full bench of the High Court (Kiefel CJ, Bell, Gageler, Keane, Nettle, Gordon and Edelman JJ) revoked special leave to appeal in respect of each proceeding.³ In its judgment, the Court described the conduct of Ms Gobbo in purporting to act as counsel for the convicted persons while covertly informing against them as "fundamental and appalling breaches of [her] obligations as counsel to her clients and of [her] duties to the court".⁴ The Court also said, "Likewise, Victoria Police were guilty of reprehensible conduct in knowingly encouraging [Ms Gobbo] to do as she did and were involved in sanctioning atrocious breaches of the sworn duty of every police officer to discharge all duties imposed on them faithfully and according to law without favour or affection, malice or ill-will".⁵

On 3 December 2018, the Premier of Victoria announced the establishment of the Royal Commission.

- 5. Some of Ms Gobbo's former clients have sought (by way of appeals or petitions of mercy) to have convictions set aside on the basis of the conduct of Ms Gobbo and Victoria Police. In one such proceeding, the Court of Appeal has set aside a conviction.⁶
- 6. Disclosure emerges as an issue for the Royal Commission in two ways. First, the decision of Victoria Police to keep secret the use of Ms Gobbo as an informer may have resulted in non-compliance with disclosure obligations on police under the *Criminal Procedure Act 2009* (CPA).⁷ If there was any such non-compliance, it both created a risk of miscarriages of justice in individual cases and allowed her improper conduct to continue. Second, as the history shows, it was only the DPP's ultimate fulfilment of obligations of disclosure which led to the public exposure of the use of Ms Gobbo by Victoria Police and ultimately to the establishment of the Royal Commission. This highlights the importance of disclosure.

² AB v CD and EF [2017] VSCA 338.

³ AB v CD [2018] HCA 58.

⁴ AB v CD [2018] HCA 58, [10].

⁵ AB v CD [2018] HCA 58, [10].

⁶ Orman v R [2019] VSCA 163.

⁷ The DPP makes no comment on whether there was any such non-compliance in particular cases, and if so its extent, nature and consequences. These are questions which remain to be determined, on the evidence, by the Royal Commission or in litigation.

1.3 Perspectives on disclosure in Victoria

- 7. To set the disclosure issues in context, it must be remembered that:
 - human source material generally is only a small component of disclosure in criminal proceedings; and
 - material from human sources who are subject to legal obligations of confidentiality or privilege is only a tiny proportion of even that material.
- 8. Therefore to address the disclosure issues raised by the terms of reference it will be necessary first to step back and refer more broadly to questions of disclosure and to other underlying issues.
- 9. The focus of this submission is on disclosure for the purposes of committal proceedings and trials on indictment, as these are the DPP's primary areas of responsibility.
- 10. Care must be taken in extrapolating from any police failures of disclosure revealed in this Royal Commission to the Victorian criminal justice system as a whole. The problems created by the use of informers with an obligation of confidence or privilege are exceptional, not typical. While it is not suggested that Victoria has been immune from disclosure issues in other cases, in only a small number of cases have failures of disclosure led to convictions being overturned in Victoria. This State does not appear to have been beset by the kinds of widespread and systemic failures that have been exposed in other jurisdictions. It is important to maintain that perspective in considering any changes to the disclosure regime.
- 11. A disclosure regime needs to provide an effective means of ensuring fair trials. But it also needs to be workable and efficient. It is in no-one's interest that the limited time and resources available to the prosecution and defence for the essential task of preparing for a criminal trial (or plea hearing) be diverted into minute reviews of vast quantities of material of peripheral or no relevance. Nor should witnesses or victims of crime risk their private or business affairs being inappropriately exposed as a result of pressure to comply with disclosure requirements. Nor should disclosure become a maze of bureaucratic requirements of impenetrable and unnecessary complexity, as it has become in England and Wales, for example.⁸ Over-disclosure, or the introduction of onerous and unrealistic requirements,

In fulfilling disclosure obligations, police and prosecutors in England and Wales are required to assimilate and apply each of the following: Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 (CPIA); CPIA codes of practice; Criminal Procedure Rules 2015, Part 15; regulations under the CPIA; rules applicable in the Magistrates Court; Attorney-General's Guidelines on Disclosure (2013); Judicial Protocol on Disclosure of Unused Material in Criminal Cases (2013); Protocol and Good Practice Model on Disclosure of Information in Cases of Alleged Child Abuse (2013); CPS Disclosure Manual (2018) (consisting of 38 chapters and five annexures).

- would be as contrary to the interests of justice as under-disclosure. The difficult task is to achieve an appropriate balance.
- 12. In a nutshell, the DPP does not consider that the law on disclosure in criminal proceedings in Victoria, which has evolved rapidly over the last three decades, is fundamentally flawed. This submission proposes some incremental changes to build on the strengths of the existing regime and to reinforce established requirements. But real advances in the effective functioning of the disclosure regime in Victoria must come from improvements in training, guidance, technology and (above all) culture in Victoria Police.

1.4 The anterior question: controls on the use of human sources with an obligation of confidence

- 13. In preparing this submission, the DPP does not have the advantage of knowing what measures might be recommended by the Commission to regulate or prohibit the future use by Victoria Police of human sources who are subject to obligations of confidentiality or privilege.
- 14. This is a critical issue for the Royal Commission. This submission proceeds on the assumption that this issue will be the subject of specific submissions after the conclusion of evidence.
- 15. Questions of disclosure policy and practice, as they relate to the use of such human sources, are inextricably linked to questions of policy about whether such sources should continue to be used and, if so, what safeguards should be put in place. Effective controls upstream on the use of such sources would reduce the prospect of disclosure problems downstream. In particular, if a system of independent vetting of the proposed use of such a source were to be put in place, it could also be designed to take into account the need for timely disclosure of the use of the source, where required. An effective independent system for regulating or monitoring the use of such a source could also be designed so as to ensure that appropriate and timely disclosure is in fact made whenever necessary. Such systems, rather than disclosure requirements, should be the primary means of preventing abuses of the kinds exposed here from occurring again.
- 16. The DPP makes this submission about disclosure now because it has been asked to do so. But it must be recognised that consideration of disclosure ahead of consideration of these threshold issues does involve putting the cart before the horse.

1.5 One "upstream" issue

17. At the end of this submission, reference is made to one important "upstream" issue: dealing with conflicts of interest and other ethical breaches by defence lawyers. It is referred to in this submission because it falls within paragraph 6 of the terms of reference and is liable to be overlooked in the course of considering aspects of the use by Victoria Police of human sources subject to legal obligations of confidentiality or privilege.

2 The disclosure context

2.1 The development of disclosure procedures in Victoria

- 18. The current disclosure regime is described in more detail below. But to understand that regime, it is necessary first to refer to how it evolved.
- 19. For many years, in Victoria (as in other common law jurisdictions) disclosure practices were the product of ethical obligations and common law rules.⁹ The law and practice relating to disclosure was not governed generally by statute.
- 20. The position has changed significantly since the 1980s. It has not been sufficiently understood or appreciated that Victoria has, over that period, been a pioneer in disclosure in criminal proceedings and in a number of other relevant developments in the law. They include the following:

In 1982, Victoria became the first jurisdiction in Australia to introduce a Freedom of Information Act. The Act came to be used by defendants in criminal proceedings as a means of obtaining disclosure of the evidence against them.¹⁰

Also in 1982, Victoria was amongst the first jurisdictions in Australia to establish an independent office of DPP. The creation of the office has encouraged greater professionalism and a more systematic approach in the conduct of prosecutions of indictable matters. Amongst other things, the DPP has long provided guidelines on disclosure and training to prosecution lawyers on the Crown's disclosure obligations.

In the 1980s, Victoria pioneered the use of a system of "hand-up briefs" in committal proceedings, by which evidence to be relied upon by the prosecution in a committal hearing was required to be served on the defendant in documentary form. The procedure has been refined over a period of time by a series of incremental reforms (notably in the Magistrates Court Act 1989, the Magistrates Court Amendment Act 1999 and the Criminal Procedure Act 2009).

In 1999, the list of required contents of a hand-up brief was amended to include, amongst other things, "a list of any other admissible statements or other documents relevant to the charge [that is, other than those relied on to establish guilt] that are available to the informant but on which the informant does not intend to rely". 11 The legislation made it

⁹ See D Plater, "The Development of the Prosecutor's Role in England and Australia with Respect to its Duty of Disclosure: Partisan Advocate or Minister of Justice?" (2006) 25 *University of Tasmania Law Review* 111.

¹⁰ See Sobh v Police Force of Victoria [1994] 1 VR 41.

¹¹ Magistrates' Court Act 1989, new Schedule 5, cl.6(1)(k)), inserted by Magistrates Court Amendment Act 1999, s.4.

clear that this requirement did not detract from any duty otherwise imposed on the prosecution to disclose to the defence material relevant to a charge.¹²

Important reforms to criminal procedure were made by the *Crimes (Criminal Trials) Act* 1993 and its successor, the *Crimes (Criminal Trials) Act* 1999. In particular those Acts provided for greater case management, including a procedure by which the prosecution was required to file a summary of prosecution opening and the defence a defence response, and other measures to identify and streamline the resolution of pre-trial issues (including disclosure).

The enactment of the CPA in 2009 consolidated, rationalised and further reformed the law governing criminal procedure. Amongst other things, the Act clarified and further expanded disclosure obligations in criminal proceedings. The matters required to be included in a hand-up brief were expanded to include any other information, document or thing in the prosecution's possession (i.e. on which the prosecution does not intend to rely) that is relevant to the offence. Similar obligations applied to a full brief to be served in summary proceedings, subject to specified circumstances where the prosecution may refuse to disclose certain information (e.g. where disclosure would prejudice the effectiveness of investigation methods or endanger the life or physical safety of a person). The Act makes clear that the disclosure requirements under the Act did not require the prosecution to disclose to the accused material which the prosecution is "required or permitted to withhold under this or any other Act or any rule of law." 16

21. It is not suggested that this statutory reform process is complete; indeed this submission proposes further refinements. But the point needs to be made that a significant effect of these changes has been that disclosure requirements have become embedded in the consciousness and the work of a generation of police officers and lawyers in a way and to an extent that was not previously the case and is not necessarily the case in other jurisdictions.

2.2 Disclosure obligations under Victorian law

22. Disclosure obligations under Victorian law are a mixture of statutory provisions (principally in the CPA) and common law duties. Common law duties are expressly preserved by s.416(1) of the CPA.

¹² Magistrates' Court Act 1989, new Schedule 5, cl.6(3), inserted by Magistrates Court Amendment Act 1999, s.4.

¹³ CPA, s.110.

¹⁴ CPA, s.41.

¹⁵ CPA, s.45.

¹⁶ CPA, s.416.

- 23. As will be seen, the core concept underlying both the statutory and common law obligations of disclosure is relevance. The CPA imposes obligations in relation to material that is relevant to the charge. Relevance is not defined, but common law authorities provide guidance on how relevance is to be determined.
- 24. Obligations of disclosure are subject to statutory or common law exceptions: for example, where a statute precludes disclosure of a particular class of information or document, or where public interest immunity (**PII**) applies.¹⁷
- 25. In addition, legal practitioners are subject to ethical obligations that require either disclosure or non-disclosure in particular circumstances.

2.2.1 Disclosure requirements under the CPA

- 26. The CPA contains separate regimes governing disclosure:
 - in summary hearings; and
 - in committal proceedings and proceedings on indictment.
- 27. The disclosure obligations relating to **summary hearings** can be found in Division 2 of Part 3.2 of the CPA.
- 28. In respect of **committal proceedings**, the informant is required to serve a hand-up brief. Section 110 of the CPA prescribes what must be included in the hand-up brief. In addition to a prescribed notice, a copy of the charge sheet(s), and a statement of the material facts relevant to the charge(s), the hand-up brief must contain:
 - (d) any information, document or thing on which the prosecution intends to rely in the committal proceeding ...
 - (e) any other information, document or thing in the possession of the prosecution that is relevant to the alleged offence ...
- 29. The material in paragraph (d) can loosely be described as "evidence", while the evidence in paragraph (e) can be described as "relevant unused material". Typically, it is the latter kind of material which gives rise to issues in disclosure. Relevance, for the purposes of disclosure obligations, is not defined or explained in the CPA.

¹⁷ The common law doctrine of PII has been codified in relation to the admission of evidence: *Evidence Act 2008* (Vic), s.130. The principles under s.130 also apply to a process or order of a court that requires the disclosure of information or a document: s.131A. In *DPP v Asling (Ruling No. 1)* [2017] VSC 37, Kaye JA proceeded on the basis that by reason of s.131A, s.130 (rather than the common law of PII) applied on the return of a subpoena directed to the Chief Commissioner of Police. The distinction between s.130 and the common law is of little or no practical significance: *Ryan v Victoria* [2015] VSCA 353, [58]-[67]. References in this submission to PII principles should be taken to include references to the principles in s.130 where applicable.

- 30. Section 110(e) gives some (non-exhaustive) examples of the kind of material falling within the description in that paragraph:
 - (i) a list of the persons (including experts) who have made statements relevant to the alleged offence which the prosecution does not intend to tender at the committal hearing; and
 - (ii) a copy of every statement referred to in subparagraph (i) made by each of those persons or, if the person has not made a statement, a written summary of the substance of any evidence likely to be given by that person or a list of those statements or written summaries; and
 - (iii) a copy of every document relevant to the alleged offence that the prosecution does not intend to tender as an exhibit or a list of those documents; and
 - (iv) a list containing descriptions of any things relevant to the alleged offence that the prosecution does not intend to tender as exhibits; and
 - (v) a clear photograph, or a clear copy of such a photograph, of any thing relevant to the alleged offence that cannot be described in detail in the list; and
 - (vi) a copy of—
 - (A) records of any medical examination of the accused; and
 - (B) reports of any forensic procedure or forensic examination conducted on the accused; and
 - (C) the results of any tests—
 - carried out on behalf of the prosecution and relevant to the alleged offence but on which the prosecution does not intend to rely ...
- 31. The hand-up brief must also be accompanied by a **Form 30** that is, a list of information or other documents included in the hand-up brief, in the form prescribed by the *Magistrates'* Court Criminal Procedure Rules 2009 (Vic).
- 32. The current prescribed Form 30 lists the following categories of documents as potentially disclosable; the informant strikes out categories that are not applicable in the particular case:
 - *4. The following is a list of other statements that are capable of being admitted in evidence relevant to the charge available to the informant but on which the informant does not intend to rely.

 [list statement(s) here]

 OR
 - *4. There is no other statement that is capable of being admitted in evidence relevant to the charge available to the informant but on which the informant does not intend to rely.
 - 5. The following information, document or thing on which the prosecution intends to rely in the committal proceeding are—
 - *copy of any statement relevant to the charge signed by the accused, or a record of interview of the accused, that is in the possession of the informant

- *a copy or statement of any other evidentiary material that is in the possession of the informant relating to a confession or admission made by the accused relevant to the charge
- *a list of the persons who have made statements that the informant intends to tender at the committal hearing, together with copies of those statements
- *a legible copy of any document which the prosecution intends to produce as evidence
- *a list of any things the prosecution intends to tender as exhibits
- *a clear photograph, or a clear copy of such a photograph, of any proposed exhibit that cannot be described in detail in the list
- *copy, or a transcript, of any audio-recording or audiovisual recording required under Subdivision (30A) of Division 1 of Part III of the Crimes Act 1958
- *a transcript of any audio or audiovisual recording for the purposes of section 368 of the Criminal Procedure Act 2009
- *list of any things the prosecution intends to tender as exhibits

- 6. Any other information, document or thing in the possession of the prosecution that is capable of being admitted in evidence relevant to the charge but on which the prosecutor does not intend to rely are—
 - *a list of the persons (including experts) who have made statements relevant to the alleged offence and a copy of the statement made by each person or written summary of any evidence likely to be given by that person
 - *a copy of records of any medical examination of the accused
 - *a copy of reports of any forensic procedure or forensic examination conducted on the accused
 - *a copy of the results of any tests carried out on behalf of the prosecution and relevant to the alleged offence
 - *if the committal proceeding relates to a charge for a sexual offence, a copy of every statement made by the complainant to any member of the police force that relates to the alleged offence and contains an acknowledgement of its truthfulness

^{*}running sheets

^{*}prisoner's register

^{*}attendance register

^{*}expert witness notes

^{*}witnesses' prior convictions

^{*}notes (prosecution witness)

^{*}photos or photocopies where it is impractical to produce extra sets

^{*}video files or video recordings

^{*}audio files or audio recordings

^{*}notes (e.g.) surveillance logs, crime scene notes, exhibit logs, diaries (official or otherwise)

^{*}other documents (provide details).

- 33. The accused may file a **Form 32** requiring specified items listed in the hand-up brief to be produced for inspection, or requiring a copy of any information, document or thing that the accused considers ought to have been included in the hand-up brief.¹⁸
- 34. Section 122 of the CPA provides that an informant must comply with a reasonable request for documents in a Form 32, or at least allow the defence to inspect the documents, unless the informant objects on the grounds of s.45 (grounds akin to PII) or s.114 (prohibition on disclosing addresses and telephone numbers).
- 35. The statutory disclosure obligations for indictable offences are continuing obligations. ¹⁹ If relevant documents come into the informant's possession after the hand-up brief has been served (or after a direct indictment), the informant is required to ensure that the documents, or a list of the documents, is provided to the accused.
- 36. Once an accused is committed for trial, **the pre-trial procedural obligations** in Part 5.5 of the CPA become applicable. The DPP is required under s 182 to file and serve a summary of the prosecution opening and a notice of pre-trial admissions. The accused is then required under s 183 to serve a response to the summary of the prosecution opening and the notice of pre-trial admissions. The response to the summary of the prosecution opening must identify the acts, facts, matters and circumstances with which issue is taken and the basis on which issue is taken.
- 37. The prosecution at trial is subject to a continuing obligation of disclosure in relation to material that would have been required to be listed or included in the hand-up brief.²⁰
- 38. Section 416 of the CPA provides that nothing in the Act derogates from a duty otherwise imposed on the prosecution to disclose to the accused material relevant to a charge, or requires the prosecution to disclose to the accused material which the prosecution is required or permitted to withhold under the Act or any other Act or any rule of law.

2.2.2 Common law obligations

- 39. The common law duties of disclosure have been the subject of extensive consideration by appellate courts in Australia and other common law jurisdictions.
- 40. The prosecution has a common law duty to disclose all relevant evidence to an accused (subject to statutory or common law exceptions, such as PII).

¹⁸ CPA s 119(e).

¹⁹ CPA ss 111.

²⁰ CPA s 185.

41. In *Mallard*, ²¹ the High Court stated:

At this point it is relevant to note that the recent case of Grey v R in this Court stands as authority for the proposition that the prosecution must at common law also disclose all relevant evidence to an accused, and that a failure to do so may, in some circumstances, require the quashing of a verdict of guilty.

42. The House of Lords in $R v H^{22}$ described the duty of disclosure as follows:

Fairness ordinarily requires that any material held by the prosecution which weakens its case or strengthens that of the defendant, if not relied on as part of its formal case against the defendant, should be disclosed to the defence. The golden rule is that full disclosure of such material should be made.

43. Courts in England and Wales have endorsed the following approach to determining relevance, for the purposes of the common law duty of disclosure:²³

I would judge to be material in the realm of disclosure that which can be seen on a sensible appraisal by the prosecution: (1) to be relevant or possibly relevant to an issue in the case; (2) to raise or possibly raise a new issue whose existence is not apparent from the evidence the prosecution proposes to use; (3) to hold out a real (as opposed to fanciful) prospect of providing a lead on evidence which goes to (1) or (2).

- 44. The reference to "an issue in the case" is to be given a broad interpretation; it includes, for example, material which may affect the credibility of Crown witnesses²⁴ and material which would tend to support an application founded on an alleged abuse of process.²⁵
- 45. Appellate courts in Australia have adopted and applied the same test in a number of cases.²⁶

 The Victorian Court of Appeal has recently confirmed the application of that test in Victoria.²⁷
- 46. The approach to the question of relevance for the purposes of the disclosure obligation is similar to the approach applied by courts with respect to the issue of subpoenas on behalf of an accused person.²⁸
- 47. The duty of disclosure does not extend to disclosure of material which is relevant only to the credibility of the accused or of a defence witness.²⁹

²¹ Mallard v R (2005) 223 CLR 125, 133 [17], citing Grey v R (2001) 75 ALJR 1708.

²² R v H [2004] 2 AC 134, [14].

²³ R. v Melvin (unreported), 20 December 1993, which was adopted and applied in R v Keane [1994] 1 WLR 746; R v Brown (Winston) [1998] AC 367, 376-7.

²⁴ R v Brown (Winston) [1998] AC 367, 376-7. Cf. Grey v R (2001) 75 ALJR 1708, [15]-[18], [21]-[22].

²⁵ E.g. R v Early [2002] EWCA Crim 1904; R v Barkshire [2011] EWCA Crim 1885.

²⁶ E.g. Easterday v R [2003] WASCA 69, [147], [194]-[199]; R v Reardon (No 2) (2004) 60 NSWLR 454; R v Spiteri (2004) 61 NSWLR 369; R v Livingstone (2004) 150 A Crim R 117; Cooley v Western Australia [2005] WASCA 160; R v Lipton (2011) 82 NSWLR 123.

²⁷ Gild v R [2018] VSCA 317, [49].

²⁸ Gould v DPP (Cth) [2018] NSWCCA 109, [19], [65]-[68].

²⁹ See, for example, *R v Spiteri* (2004) 61 NSWLR 369.

- 48. The duty of disclosure extends to material in the possession of the prosecution. In proceedings on indictment in Victoria, this has been taken to include material in the hands of investigators, even if the DPP has no knowledge of it.³⁰ A corollary is that it falls to investigators to assess whether material in their possession may be required to be disclosed; there is no duty for prosecutors to assess material which is not in their possession.³¹
- 49. Although in limited circumstances the duty may require the prosecution to obtain a particular class of material from a third party (such as the criminal history of a prosecution witness),³² the duty does not generally require the making of inquiries with a view to obtaining information not presently in the prosecutor's possession.³³
- 50. The prosecution duty of disclosure is not owed directly to an accused; an accused person cannot ordinarily obtain an order that the prosecution disclose documents which have been withheld. Rather, the accused is entitled to a fair trial, and can insist that the trial be stayed, permanently or temporarily, if it can be established that that will not occur, absent adherence by the prosecution to that duty.³⁴ If a trial proceeds without required disclosure, an appellate court may overturn a conviction if it finds that a miscarriage of justice resulted.³⁵
- 51. Common law obligations of disclosure are ongoing. They continue even after a trial and after appeal rights have been exhausted.³⁶ The decision of the DPP to disclose to certain convicted persons material relating to the Victoria Police use of Nicola Gobbo is an example of the fulfilment of those continuing obligations of disclosure.

2.2.3 DPP's policy on disclosure

- 52. The Director's Policy includes the following passage relating to disclosure obligations:³⁷
 - 15. Subject to any claim of public interest immunity or legal professional privilege or any statutory provisions to the contrary, prosecutors must disclose to the accused any material which is known to them which, on their sensible appraisal:
 - i. is relevant or possibly relevant to an issue in the case; or

³⁰ R v Farquharson (2009) 26 VR 410, 464 [212]; DPP v Galloway (a pseudonym) (2014) 46 VR 809, [89]; cf. R v Forrest (2016) 125 SASR 319, [60]-[65].

³¹ Gould v DPP (Cth) [2018] NSWCCA 109, [16]. Basten JA there observed that there were good reasons not to formulate a duty in terms that it was for the prosecutor, not the police, to assess whether documents were disclosable, given the importance, in some circumstances, of quarantining particular material from the prosecution. See also the obligations imposed on the informant by the CPA, which are discussed above.

³² E.g. R v Garofalo [1999] 2 VR 625.

³³ Marwan v DPP [2019] NSWCCA 161, [27]-[39].

³⁴ See the comprehensive review of the Australian authorities and relevant principles in *Marwan v DPP* [2019] NSWCCA 161, [38]-[59].

³⁵ E.g. Mallard v R (2005) 223 CLR 125, 133 [17].

³⁶ R (Nunn) v Chief Constable of Suffolk Police [2015] AC 225, [35].

³⁷ Policy of the Director of Public Prosecutions for Victoria (17 December 2019), [15]-[16].

- ii. raises or possibly raises a new issue that is not apparent from the evidence the prosecution proposes to use; or
- iii. holds out a real as opposed to fanciful prospect of providing a line of inquiry which goes to (i) or (ii) above.
- 16. The prosecution duty of disclosure does not extend to disclosing material:
 - relevant only to the credibility of defence (as distinct from prosecution) witnesses
 - ii. relevant only to the credibility of the accused
 - iii. relevant only because it might deter an accused from giving false evidence or raising an issue of fact which might be shown to be false
 - iv. for the purpose of preventing an accused from creating a trap for themselves, if at the time the prosecution became aware of the material it was not a relevant issue at trial.
- 53. As is apparent, the Director's Policy reflects the scope of the duty at common law.
- 54. Following recent amendments, the Policy also provides:
 - 17. If material is not disclosed under paragraph 15 above on the basis of a claim of public interest immunity or legal professional privilege or a statutory prohibition, any application or submission to a court in support of that claim should be made by the person or body which holds the material or the privilege, as the case may be. A prosecutor should not represent that person or body, except in relation to a privilege held by the DPP or OPP.
 - 18. Subject to paragraph 19 below, if an investigative agency has not disclosed to the accused relevant material on the basis that it is subject to a claim of public interest immunity or legal professional privilege or a statutory prohibition, the agency should inform the prosecutor:
 - i. of the nature of the material and the basis of the claim;
 - ii. whether a ruling has been made by a court on the claim and, if so, provide to the prosecutor a copy of the ruling and the reasons given by the court (unless the prosecutor was present in court or a non-publication order prevents the information being provided); and
 - iii. whether, in the opinion of the agency, the material, on a sensible appraisal, substantially weakens the case for the prosecution or substantially strengthens that of the defendant.
 - 19. So far as practicable, the prosecutor should not be provided with, or informed of the content of, any material to the extent that it is subject to a claim of public interest immunity, unless the prosecutor so requests.

2.3 Prohibitions on disclosure

55. Disclosure requirements are subject to exceptions, either pursuant to statute or common law.

56. As noted above, s.416 of the CPA provides that nothing in the Act requires the prosecution to disclose to the accused material which the prosecution is required or permitted to withhold under the Act or any other Act or any rule of law.

2.3.1 Statutory exceptions

57. Some statutory exceptions have already been mentioned. An example is the prohibition in s.114 of the CPA on disclosure to the accused of the address or telephone number of any person. Another example is the prohibition on disclosure of any information which is likely to lead to the identification of a person who made a report to the relevant authority about the wellbeing of a child or unborn child.³⁸ Such a statutory prohibition, if expressed in clear terms, will override any prosecution obligation of disclosure.³⁹

2.3.2 Common law exceptions

- 58. The most significant common law exception to disclosure obligations concerns material which is subject to PII.
- 59. PII will usually preclude the disclosure to an accused person of certain kinds of sensitive material, such as the identity of an informer.⁴⁰
- 60. However even in relation to such sensitive matters, the public interest in disclosure will sometimes outweigh the public interest in non-disclosure. In *AB v CD*, the High Court endorsed the decisions of Ginnane J and the Court of Appeal below that, in the unique circumstances of that case, the public interest in preserving Ms Gobbo's anonymity was required to be subordinated to the public interest in preserving the integrity of the criminal justice system.⁴¹
- 61. In the rare case in which the requirements of fairness to an accused person would require the disclosure of information, but such disclosure would be damaging to the public interest in other ways (for example by exposing an informer to a serious risk of harm), the prosecution may find itself in an invidious position. In *AB v CD*,⁴² the High Court observed,

where a question of disclosure of a police informer's identity arises before the trial of an accused, and the Crown is not prepared to disclose the identity of the informer, as is sometimes the case, the Crown may choose not to proceed with the prosecution or the trial may be stayed.

³⁸ Children, Youth and Families Act 2005 (Vic), s.41.

³⁹ Cf. Secretary, Department of Family and Community Services v Hayward (a pseudonym) (2018) 98 NSWLR 599

⁴⁰ AB v CD [2018] HCA 58, [9], [12]. See also R v Andrews (2010) 107 SASR 471, [26]-[28].

⁴¹ AB v CD [2018] HCA 58, [9]-[12].

⁴² AB v CD [2018] HCA 58, [9].

3 Some common problems in disclosure

3.1 Prosecution reliance on compliance by investigators

- 62. The police use of Ms Gobbo as an informer highlights an inherent difficulty in the operation of the disclosure regime. The prosecution's obligation of disclosure has been treated as extending to material in the possession of police investigators. Prosecutors are reliant on compliance by investigators with their obligations under the CPA to ensure either that all relevant information is provided or at least that its existence is disclosed.
- 63. If police, either inadvertently or intentionally, fail to disclose and fail to reveal the existence of disclosable or potentially-disclosable material, prosecutors may become unwitting parties to the conduct of an unfair trial. Serious breaches can compromise the integrity of the criminal justice system.
- 64. This is not to say that a radical overhaul of the relationship between investigators and prosecutors is required. The division of functions is inherent in our criminal justice system. Indeed it is one of its features, as it allows both investigators and prosecutors to perform their respective roles more effectively. But the risks that flow from that division of functions must be recognised and addressed.

3.2 Common causes of non-compliance

- 65. The experience of the DPP, coupled with examination of reported instances of non-disclosure in other Australian jurisdictions, suggests four common causes of non-compliance by investigators with disclosure obligations:
 - 1. Investigators sometimes struggle to determine whether material satisfies the broad test of relevance. It is inherently challenging for investigators to look critically at information obtained during an investigation and identify material that may tend to undermine the prosecution case or strengthen the defence case.⁴³ This may lead investigators to fail to disclose, and to fail to reveal the existence of, material that, on objective appraisal, satisfies the test of relevance.
 - 2. An individual informant may not be aware of all relevant information held by the investigating agency. For example, hearings in this Commission have shown that those who had information or material relating to certain prosecutions of those connected to Ms

⁴³ See D Plater and L De Vreeze, "Is the 'Golden Rule' of Full Prosecution Disclosure a Modern 'Mission Impossible'?" (2012) 14 Flinders Law Journal 134, 141-142 146-153.

Gobbo were not the same people as the informants or those assisting in putting together the brief to the OPP.

- 3. Investigators sometimes inappropriately withhold otherwise relevant material on the basis of PII. This is particularly problematic where the *existence* of such material is not disclosed to the prosecutor or the defence, as it means that the asserted claim of PII cannot be tested by the defence. Underlying this problem is a common misconception (despite clear authority to the contrary ⁴⁴) that an investigative agency may judge for itself whether relevant material is subject to such immunity. That misconception flows from another: a failure to understand the balancing exercise which is involved in determining whether material is immune from disclosure, leading to an exclusive focus on factors which would favour non-disclosure (such as the need to protect confidential sources and the flow of information) and failure to appreciate the weight which must be given to factors that would favour disclosure. Both misconceptions have been clearly displayed in relation to the Victoria Police use of Ms Gobbo as an informer.
- 4. Investigators may be overwhelmed by the volume of material obtained in the course of an investigation (for example, data downloaded from mobile phones, or telephone intercept recordings). Voluminous material may not be adequately assessed for relevance, with the result that relevant material is not provided with a hand-up brief, or subsequently, as required by the CPA. This is an increasing problem as the volume of electronic data obtained in the course of an investigation, even in relatively uncomplicated cases, grows exponentially.
- 66. Examples of these issues may be found in the evidence before this Royal Commission, but each of these problems of non-disclosure may also arise in more conventional circumstances than those being examined by the Royal Commission.

3.3 Common risk areas for non-compliance

67. The most common risk areas for non-disclosure or late disclosure in Australia have related to material of the following kinds:

relevant unused statements of, or interviews with, eye-witnesses;45

relevant previous statements or victim impact statements of complainants or other prosecution witnesses whose evidence was contested;⁴⁶

⁴⁴ E.g. R v Solomon (2005) 92 SASR 331, [116]; R v Andrews (2010) 107 SASR 471; R v Lipton (2011) 82 NSWLR 123, [110]-[111].

⁴⁵ E.g. TWL v R [2012] NSWCCA 57; Eastough v Barry [2013] WASC 144.

withdrawal of a complaint by a complainant; 47

forensic tests;48

relevant unused telephone intercept or listening device recordings;49

relevant criminal history of a prosecution witness;50

letters of assistance which police have provided in sentencing hearings regarding a Crown witness or letters of comfort given to such a witness;⁵¹

other information that is relevant to the credibility of an important prosecution witness. 52

- 68. The subjective perception of experienced prosecutors in Victoria is that instances of failure to disclose the existence of relevant unused witness statements, unused telephone or listening device recordings or unused forensic tests have become less common over time, as a result of developments in criminal procedure and increasing awareness on the part of investigators of their obligations in this regard. Such problems may arise, but they do not appear to be widespread or systemic issues in Victoria.
- 69. The more intractable problems have tended to concern material that may be relevant to the credibility of a prosecution witness, such as relevant criminal history (including outstanding charges), or the provision of letters of assistance, charge reductions or other favourable treatment in criminal proceedings as a result of relevant co-operation with investigators.

3.4 Measures to improve compliance with disclosure obligations

70. It is the Director's view that these problems can be ameliorated by legislative amendments that:

provide more guidance to investigators on what needs to be disclosed by giving concrete examples of classes of documents that will ordinarily satisfy the relevance test;

make clear that the assessment of the relevance of material is distinct from the question whether the material is subject to a PII claim; and

provide a better procedure by which a PII claim in respect of relevant material can be determined by a court.

⁴⁶ E.g. R v Lewis-Hamilton [1998] 1 VR 630; R v Livingstone [2004] NSWCCA 407; D v Western Australia [2007] WASCA 272; R v HAU [2009] OCA 165.

⁴⁷ E.g. PAH v Western Australia [2015] WASCA 159; R v Cologrande [2019] 1 Qd R 241.

⁴⁸ E.g. Mallard v R (2005) 223 CLR 125.

⁴⁹ E.g. R v Gillard (1999) 76 SASR 76; R v Ulman-Naruniec [2003] SASC 437; Hughes v Western Australia [2015] WASCA 164.

⁵⁰ E.g. Rv K (1991) 161 LSJS 135; Rv Garofalo [1999] 2 VR 625; Rv Forrest (2016) 125 SASR 319.

⁵¹ E.g. Grey v R (2001) 75 ALJR 1708; R v Farquharson (2009) 26 VR 410.

⁵² E.g. Easterday v R [2003] WASCA 69; Western Australia v JWRL [2010] WASCA 179; AJ v R (2011) 32 VR 614.

- 71. In the view of the DPP, the most effective way to improve compliance by investigators with disclosure obligations is by:
 - ensuring that legal obligations are clear (without being unduly burdensome); providing investigators with necessary training, guidance, advice and appropriate technology to enable them to understand and carry out their obligations; and having an effective quality assurance system, including certification to courts of full disclosure and independent monitoring of compliance.
- 72. All of these measures must be directed towards the most important goal, improving the culture of compliance with disclosure obligations within Victoria Police.
- 73. Before addressing these matters, this submission refers to the experience of some other jurisdictions which have grappled with similar problems. These experiences provide important lessons on what will and will not work in improving the operation of the disclosure regime.
- 74. The proposals in this submission should be seen in the wider context of continuing reforms to criminal procedure. A particular objective of such reforms should be to encourage earlier resolution of proceedings, particularly on indictment, and earlier and more comprehensive identification and narrowing of issues in matters which proceed to trial. The DPP has argued elsewhere⁵³ for the reform of pre-trial criminal proceedings, including the replacement of committal hearings with issues hearings and case management hearings. These hearings would be aimed at ensuring that the prosecution case is properly disclosed, that the parties engage in resolution discussions at an early stage, that guilty pleas be fast-tracked and, in matters proceeding to trial, that issues be identified and narrowed earlier and more effectively. This process would involve more judicial case management, including management of disclosure by the prosecution and of defence responses. Implementation of the proposals in this submission could be dovetailed with these reforms, as each would improve the effectiveness of the other. In particular, early identification and narrowing of issues in criminal proceedings is closely bound up with the more effective and efficient operation of disclosure regimes.
- 75. This submission does not call for a narrowing of the scope of disclosable material or information, despite the uncertainty which results from the absence of any definition of

⁵³ Director of Public Prosecutions (Vic), *Proposed Reforms to Reduce Further Trauma to Victims and Witnesses* (Policy Paper, 1 October 2018) (published at http://www.opp.vic.gov.au/Home/Resources/1-October-2018-Director-s-Policy-Paper). The Director's proposals to replace committals with case management hearings includes suggestions that defence be required to provide a list of issues early in the criminal proceedings.

21

relevance (for the purposes of disclosure obligations) in the CPA or any statutory criteria by which relevance may be assessed. The absence of such a definition or criteria means that whether particular material or information is relevant depends on all the circumstances. It needs to be recognised, however, that the price of the resultant flexibility is uncertainty. That uncertainty has a cost: sometimes the cost is that investigators will fail to perceive the relevance of particular material or information in a timely way; far more often the cost is that large volumes of material or information of little or no relevance will be disclosed to avoid the risk that a court might, in hindsight, regard it as having been in some way relevant to some issue (even if that issue had not then been identified). That is one reason why it is critical, in the view of the DPP, that reforms be undertaken to ensure earlier and better identification and narrowing of the issues in a criminal proceeding.

4 Lessons from other jurisdictions

4.1 United Kingdom

- 76. The UK (and in particular England and Wales) has experienced a number of high-profile disclosure failures in recent years. Its disclosure regime has been repeatedly examined in high-level reviews, including:
 - a 2011 review by Lord Justice Gross at the request of the Lord Chief Justice;54
 - a 2011 report by Sir Christopher Rose (a retired Lord Justice of Appeal) on disclosure failings in relation to the Ratcliffe-on-Soar power station protest case; ⁵⁵
 - a 2014 review of Magistrates' Court disclosure at the request of the Lord Chief Justice; 56
 - a 2017 joint review by HM Crown Prosecution Service Inspectorate (**HMCPSI**) and HM Inspectorate of Constabulary (**HMIC**);⁵⁷
 - a 2017 report on the prosecution of the Cardiff Five, which was beset by disclosure problems;⁵⁸
 - a 2018 joint review by the Metropolitan Police Service and the Crown Prosecution Service (**CPS**) of the disclosure process in the case of $R \ v \ Allan;^{59}$
 - a 2018 report of the House of Commons Justice Committee into disclosure; 60 and
 - a 2018 review by the Attorney-General's office of the efficiency and effectiveness of disclosure.⁶¹
- 77. The UK experience, and the analyses of that experience, therefore provide a fertile information base regarding what works and what does not in the disclosure context. This section briefly summarises the way disclosure in the UK works, and then considers the key lessons from the UK experience.

4.1.1 The UK System

78. In the UK, disclosure obligations are primarily captured in the *Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996* (UK) (**CPIA**) and the CPIA Code of Practice.⁶² The practical

⁵⁴ Lord Justice Gross, Review of Disclosure in Criminal Proceedings (September 2011).

⁵⁵ Sir Christopher Rose, Ratcliffe-on-Soar Power Station Protest: Inquiry into Disclosure (December 2011).

⁵⁶ Judiciary of England and Wales, Magistrates' Court Disclosure Review (May 2014).

⁵⁷ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017).

⁵⁸ Richard Horwell QC, Mouncher Investigation Report (July 2017).

⁵⁹ Metropolitan Police Service and CPS, A Joint Review of the Disclosure Process in the Case of R v Allan (January 2018).

⁶⁰ House of Commons Justice Committee, Disclosure of Evidence in Criminal Cases (17 July 2018).

⁶¹ Attorney-General's Office, Review of the Efficiency and Effectiveness of Disclosure in the Criminal Justice System (November 2018).

- application of those obligations is elaborated upon by a variety of documents including the Attorney-General's Guidelines on Disclosure and the CPS Disclosure Manual.
- 79. The guiding test for disclosure under the CPIA is whether material "might reasonably be considered capable of undermining the case for the prosecution against the accused or of assisting the case for the accused".63
- 80. In broad brush, the disclosure process is as follows:
 - 1. From the outset of an investigation, the investigator has a duty to record, retain and review material collected during the investigation. Investigators have a duty to conduct a thorough investigation, manage all material appropriately and follow all reasonable lines of inquiry, whether they point towards or away from any suspect.
 - 2. If a person is charged with an offence the investigator will review all material gathered during the investigation.
 - 3. Some evidence will be used in the prosecution and will be part of the case. Some material will be irrelevant. The remainder that is, evidence that is relevant but is not used as part of the prosecution case is referred to as "unused material". The investigator creates a schedule of the unused material to aid the disclosure process (known as the MG6C schedule). A separate schedule is created for sensitive material the disclosure of which the investigator believes will prejudice an important public interest (known as the MG6D schedule).
 - 4. The investigator provides the schedules to the prosecutor, together with material satisfying the legislative test of relevance. The prosecutor reviews the schedules and uses them to determine if she or he needs to inspect any further material to determine if that material should be disclosed to defence.
 - 5. The prosecutor provides the defence with a schedule of all the non-sensitive unused material and with copies of all the material that satisfies the legislative test of relevance.
 - 6. The accused must serve a defence statement on the prosecution in Crown Court cases and may do so in magistrates' court cases. The defence statement sets out the accused's defence to the allegations and can point the investigator to other lines of inquiry. The

⁶² Separate, broadly similar, legislation applies in Scotland: see *Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010*, Part 6. For a summary of the law in Scotland, see Chapter 1 of the *Disclosure Manual* published by the Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service (www.copfs.gov.uk).
63 CPIA s 3(1).

- investigator will review all their material again and decide whether, in the light of the defence statement, additional material is now relevant or meets the test for disclosure.
- 7. The investigator produces a further report to the prosecutor who makes the final decision on whether further material should be disclosed. The accused has a right to challenge that decision by making an application to the court.

4.1.2 Problems with scheduling

- 81. While the scheduling process in theory provides a structured approach to disclosure that reduces non-disclosure risks, a number of problems have been encountered in its practical implementation.
- 82. *First*, the effectiveness of scheduling in minimising disclosure failures is limited by how well schedules are completed.
- 83. The 2017 HMCPSI and HMIC review found that police scheduling "is routinely poor". 64 In a significant proportion of the non-sensitive material schedules that were examined, the schedules were judged to be inadequate, with 22.2% judged to be "wholly inadequate". Some 21.9% of schedules had missing items of unused material which should have been scheduled. In some police forces, officers were simply listing items required for routine revelation and nothing else. In 67.1% of cases, scheduled items were poorly described, making it difficult for the prosecutor to know whether or not she or he needed to view the material before deciding whether or not it should be disclosed to the defence. 65
- 84. Similarly, 40% of sensitive material schedules were non-compliant. Problems included incorrectly listing materials on the sensitive schedule when the material was not sensitive or could have been easily redacted of sensitive details; poor explanations as to why the material was asserted to be sensitive; and failure to disclose the existence of potentially undermining sensitive material in circumstances where a miscarriage of justice was only narrowly avoided.⁶⁶
- 85. The causes for these deficiencies in scheduling were identified to be:

 a basic lack of knowledge by police of the disclosure and scheduling process;

⁶⁴ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017), 3 [1.3].

⁶⁵ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017), 11 [4.3].

⁶⁶ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017), 13 [4.9].

confusion amongst officers as to what constituted relevant unused material;⁶⁷ and a general lack of understanding by officers of the meaning of sensitive material.⁶⁸

86. Failure to provide timely disclosure has significant adverse consequences, as the UK Attorney-General's 2018 review of disclosure observed:⁶⁹

[T]here are certain items of material that almost always assist the defence and therefore meet the test for disclosure. However, they are frequently not disclosed until there has been significant correspondence and challenge from the defence. This wastes time and resources that could be better spent by both sides.

87. *Secondly*, scheduling can be a burdensome process in prosecutions with large volumes of material. Lord Justice Gross's 2011 review gave the example of a cartel case in which the schedule was 10,877 pages long, and which had taken an estimated 18,214 hours to create. ⁷⁰

4.1.3 Voluminous material

88. A consistent theme in the recent UK reviews is that the rise of electronic material poses significant challenges in terms of disclosure, particularly when coupled with resource constraints. In a 2018 speech,⁷¹ Lord Justice Gross noted:

the Metropolitan Police recently explained that in one complicated rape case, involving multiple complainants, it took 630 hours for the police disclosure team to review the content of the 3 complainants' mobile phones and their Facebook accounts. That figure does not include the time taken to actually download the phones at the lab, or the time taken to collate, review and schedule the products of the various reviews.

In another and more straightforward rape case, where complainant and defendant met on Tinder and there were only 2 mobile phones to consider, 150 officer hours were required to examine 20,000 items of data.

89. The Court of Appeal of England and Wales has addressed the issue of the proper approach to disclosure where large quantities of documents and electronic data are involved. In R v R, 72 the Court of Appeal stated:

In our judgment, it has been clear for some time that the prosecution is not required to do the impossible, nor should the duty of giving initial disclosure be rendered incapable of fulfillment through the physical impossibility of reading (and scheduling) each and every item of material seized; common sense must be applied. In such circumstances, the prosecution is entitled to use appropriate sampling and search terms and its recordkeeping and scheduling obligations are modified accordingly.

⁶⁷ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017), 12 [4.6].

⁶⁸ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017), 13 [4.10].

⁶⁹ Attorney-General's Office, Review of the Efficiency and Effectiveness of Disclosure in the Criminal Justice System (November 2018), 16-17.

⁷⁰ Lord Justice Gross, Review of Disclosure in Criminal Proceedings (September 2011), 38 [58].

⁷¹ Lord Justice Gross, Disclosure – Again (Speech at CBA Disclosure Event, June 2018), [37]-[38].

⁷² R v R [2016] 1 WLR 1872, 1880 [36].

4.1.4 The problematic nature of the UK disclosure system

- 90. The UK system illustrates a number of pitfalls in reforming the disclosure system.
- 91. Despite repeated attempts at reform, the UK disclosure regime is "widely regarded as unworkable and unduly bureaucratic". 73 Even after decades of inquiries, reviews and revisions, the rules remain unnecessarily complex and poorly understood. They have proven difficult for investigators and prosecutors to apply in practice. The problems are magnified by other strains on the criminal justice system, include those resulting from substantial funding cuts to the CPS, police forces and legal aid. 74
- 92. Moreover reforms to the disclosure regime have not proven conspicuously successful in ensuring fair trials. Even though the current regime arose in response to a series of notorious miscarriages of justice (including egregious suppression of potentially exculpatory evidence) from the 1970s onwards, serious failures of disclosure continue, as demonstrated in the stream of inquiries and reports referred to above. Those reports have revealed continuing widespread and systemic failures in disclosure and numerous miscarriages of justice or other serious errors.
- 93. The most recent reports have emphasised the need for changes in culture as the essential means for "resolving issues in the disclosure process and rebuilding public confidence in the justice system". The new DPP, Max Hill QC, has acknowledged "the long and sometimes fraught history of disclosure" and that "systemic problems cannot be solved overnight"; he has emphasised the importance of "shifting the whole culture within investigations and prosecutions". 76

4.2 Canada

94. The most recent in-depth analysis of prosecution disclosure in Canada is a 2011 report on disclosure in criminal cases produced by the Canadian Department of Justice's Steering Committee on Justice Efficiencies and Access to the Justice System (the Steering Committee Report).⁷⁷ Prior to that report, disclosure had been discussed in a 1984 Law Reform Commission Report;⁷⁸ a 1989 Royal Commission report;⁷⁹ a 2003 report into police

⁷³ See D Plater, "The Development of the Prosecutor's Role in England and Australia with Respect to its Duty of Disclosure: Partisan Advocate or Minister of Justice?" (2006) 25 University of Tasmania Law Review 111, 138.

⁷⁴ House of Commons Justice Committee, Disclosure of Evidence in Criminal Cases (17 July 2018), [28]-[51].

⁷⁵ House of Commons Justice Committee, *Disclosure of Evidence in Criminal Cases* (17 July 2018), [27]. See I Dennis, "Prosecution Disclosure: Are the problems insoluble?" [2018] Criminal Law Review 829.

⁷⁶ M Hill, "Disclosure – a response from the CPS" [2019] Criminal Law Review 611, 612.

⁷⁷ Steering Committee on Justice Efficiencies and Access to the Justice System, *Report on Disclosure in Criminal Cases* (June 2011).

⁷⁸ Law Reform Commission of Canada, Disclosure by the Prosecution (1984).

- misconduct commissioned by the Toronto Police Service⁸⁰ and in a 2008 report into large and complex criminal case procedures commissioned by the Attorney-General of Ontario.⁸¹
- 95. The Steering Committee Report begins by observing that disclosure problems continue to plague Canada's criminal justice system, some twenty years after the landmark decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in *Stinchcombe*.⁸² Like the UK reports, the Steering Committee Report ultimately concludes that the problem with disclosure is not the law of disclosure itself, but the practical implementation of disclosure:

The report does not conclude, as some argue, that the biggest cause of disclosure problems is the law of disclosure itself. We believe the system is still encountering disclosure problems primarily because all the professional participants in the criminal justice system, in one way or another, have not effectively responded to the information management challenges posed by constitutionally mandated disclosure.⁸³

96. This section briefly summarises the way disclosure in Canada works and then considers the key lessons from the Canadian experience.

4.2.1 The Canadian system

97. In Canada, Crown disclosure in criminal proceedings is a constitutionally-protected right governed by common law. In *Stinchcombe*,⁸⁴ the Supreme Court of Canada recognised an obligation on the part of the Crown to disclose the fruits of the investigation against an accused. That obligation was based on an accused's common law right to make full answer and defence, which was said to have "acquired new vigour" by reason of s 7 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*.⁸⁵ The Crown's obligation to disclose gives rise to a corresponding constitutional right of the accused to the disclosure of all material which meets the *Stinchcombe* threshold.⁸⁶

⁷⁹ Royal Commission on the Donald Marshall Jr. Prosecution, *Report* (1989), Volume 1, Findings and Recommendations.

⁸⁰ George Ferguson, Review and Recommendations Concerning Various Aspects of Police Misconduct (January 2003).

⁸¹ Patrick J LeSage, Report of the Review of Large and Complex Criminal Case Procedures (November 2008).

⁸² Steering Committee on Justice Efficiencies and Access to the Justice System, *Report on Disclosure in Criminal Cases* (June 2011), 3, referring to *R v Stinchcombe* [1991] 3 SCR 326.

⁸³ Steering Committee on Justice Efficiencies and Access to the Justice System, *Report on Disclosure in Criminal Cases* (June 2011), 3.

⁸⁴ R v Stinchcombe [1991] 3 SCR 326.

⁸⁵ R v Stinchcombe [1991] 3 SCR 326, 336. Section 7 provides that "everyone has the right to life, liberty and security of the person and the right not to be deprived thereof except in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice."

⁸⁶ R v Dixon [1998] 1 SCR 244, 257 [22].

- 98. The threshold requirement for disclosure is "quite low" and the duty of disclosure is triggered "whenever there is a reasonable possibility of the information being useful to the accused in making full answer and defence".⁸⁷
- 99. The *Stinchcombe* obligations apply only to material in the possession or control of the prosecuting entity. In *McNeil*, ⁸⁸ the Supreme Court of Canada held that although authorities of the state are not to be treated as a single indivisible Crown entity for the purposes of disclosure, the necessary corollary to the Crown's disclosure duty under *Stinchcombe* is the obligation of police (or other investigating state authority) to disclose to the Crown all material pertaining to its investigation of the accused. ⁸⁹ For the purposes of fulfilling this corollary obligation, the investigating police force, although distinct and independent from the Crown at law, is not a third party, but acts on the same first party footing as the Crown. ⁹⁰
- 100. As for relevant material held by a third party, while the Crown does not have a general duty to make inquiries, Crown counsel who is put on notice of the existence of relevant information, including potentially relevant evidence pertaining to the credibility or reliability of the witnesses in a case, is under an obligation to make reasonable inquiries of other Crown agencies or departments. As has been observed, precisely what must be shown before this duty to inquire is activated is not entirely clear. The duty must rest on something more than speculative theories that inquiries may produce something helpful for defence; the Ontario Court of Appeal has suggested that it is "triggered by material and potentially meritorious allegations of state misconduct". 93
- 101. The Crown's duty of disclosure has been held to give rise to an obligation to preserve relevant evidence. The Crown fails to meet its disclosure obligations where it loses relevant evidence due to unacceptable negligence. 94
- 102. It has also been suggested that the duty of disclosure may import an element of transparency. While generally speaking the Crown has no duty to explain disclosed documents to defence, in some circumstances there may be an obligation on the Crown to draw the attention of the

⁸⁷ R v Dixon [1998] 1 SCR 244, 257 [21].

⁸⁸ R v McNeil [2009] 1 SCR 66.

⁸⁹ *R v McNeil* [2009] 1 SCR 66, 76-77 [13]-[14], 81-83 [22]-[24]. This was held (at 98-102 [52]-[60]) to include records of disciplinary proceedings against a police officer who was an important witness in the case against the accused, where the disciplinary proceedings arose from the officer's conduct in the same investigation.

⁹⁰ R v McNeil [2009] 1 SCR 66, 77 [14]. See also R v Quesnelle [2014] 2 SCR 390, [11].

⁹¹ R v McNeil [2009] 1 SCR 66, 96-98 [48]-[51]. No such general duty has been recognised in Australia: see Marwan v DPP [2019] NSWCCA 161, [38]-[59], where the Australian authorities and relevant principles are carefully reviewed.

⁹² Robert J Frater, Prosecutorial Misconduct (Thomson Reuters, 2nd ed, 2017), 87.

⁹³ R v Darwish [2010] ONCA 124, [38].

⁹⁴ R v La [1997] 2 SCR 680.

defence to particular features of the disclosed information. In *R v Alcantara*, where the Crown had information indicating that the police may have violated the terms of a wiretap authorisation, but that information was found in reports that formed part of thousands of pages of disclosure, the Alberta Court of Appeal said:

[W]here, as here, the police and through them by imputation, the Crown, had actual knowledge of a potential breach of the terms of the wiretap authorization, the obligation to disclose that information in a meaningful way went beyond mere professional courtesy. The disclosure obligation is not a game where a forest can be hidden simply by placing it in the midst of a large collection of trees. 95

103. The Supreme Court has recognised that the actions of defence are also relevant to prompt and effective disclosure. Where defence seeks further disclosure from the Crown, the Supreme Court has said that such requests must be focused; 96 they must not involve "trolling peripheral waters". 97 Moreover, defence requests for further disclosure must be diligently made and pursued; the diligence of defence counsel has been recognised as essential to "It]he fair and efficient functioning of the criminal justice system". 98

4.2.2 Disclosure challenges

104. The Steering Committee Report identified a number of disclosure challenges confronting police, prosecutors, defence counsel, judges and other participants in the criminal justice process in Canada.

105. Challenges faced by police included: 99

- (a) The cost of disclosure the human, material and financial cost of discharging disclosure obligations, particularly in large complex cases.
- (b) Technical issues the lack of infrastructure required to support the disclosure process, e.g. to process large volumes of electronic material.
- (c) Security and legal issues complexities associated with handling sensitive relevant information, and the lack of clear guidance on what should and should not be disclosed.

⁹⁵ R v Alcantara [2013] ABCA 163, [36].

⁹⁶ R v Chaplin [1995] 2 SCR 727, [30]-[32].

⁹⁷ R v Anderson [2013] SKCA 92, [73].

⁹⁸ R v Dixon [1998] 1 SCR 244, [37].

⁹⁹ Steering Committee on Justice Efficiencies and Access to the Justice System, *Report on Disclosure in Criminal Cases* (June 2011), 6-11.

- 106. The primary challenge faced by prosecutors was the extensive amount of review time required for reviewing and vetting material for ultimate disclosure to defence. As an example, the Committee referred to one case in which there were 13,000 task reports, each of which had to be edited by police and then reviewed by the prosecution before they were disclosed to defence. 100
- 107. To address these challenges, the Steering Committee made a number of recommendations, including:
 - (a) clear standardized agreements in each jurisdiction setting out the division and nature of the respective disclosure responsibilities of police and prosecution services;
 - (b) development of quality control for the briefs provided by police to prosecutors;
 - (c) development of standardized disclosure checklists and templates to establish disclosure expectations in the criminal justice system;
 - (d) development of educational programmes to educate justice professionals on their respective disclosure roles and responsibilities;
 - (e) consideration of a staged disclosure approach, where defence is initially provided with sufficient information to make an assessment of whether a plea should be entered, with additional disclosure to be provided if the accused decides to proceed to trial; and
 - (f) ultimately, consideration of codification of the law of disclosure.

4.2.3 Commentary

- 108.Disclosure obligations in Canada have evolved from a series of court decisions heavily influenced by constitutional requirements. A key theme from the Canadian commentary on disclosure is that the absence of a legislative framework for disclosure has been considered problematic. As early as 1984, the Law Reform Commission of Canada called for a statutory disclosure regime. ¹⁰¹ That call was repeated by the Steering Committee Report in 2011.
- 109.By contrast, Victoria has an established and practical legislative regime for disclosure which generally works effectively, although as the Canadian experience shows, it is necessary to

¹⁰⁰ Steering Committee on Justice Efficiencies and Access to the Justice System, *Report on Disclosure in Criminal Cases* (June 2011), 13.

Law Reform Commission of Canada, Report on Disclosure by the Prosecution (1984), 3.

- ensure that the effective working of the disclosure regime is kept under review. This supports the strengthening of the Victorian system in the ways discussed below.
- 110.In Canada, as in Australia, courts have recognised as a corollary of the prosecution duty of disclosure a duty on the part of investigators to provide appropriate disclosure to the prosecution. In Canada, the scope of the latter duty emerges from decisions of the Supreme Court. In Australia, in some jurisdictions it has instead been fixed by statute. Statutory provisions may allow for a more nuanced approach, to ensure that disclosure is provided in an efficient and workable way, to avoid prosecuting authorities from being swamped by irrelevant material or unnecessarily provided with sensitive material.
- 111. The jurisprudence in Canada has at times tended to interpret the prosecution's duty of disclosure in broad terms. Such tendencies have created some uncertainties in the law; for example, it is unclear when the Crown's obligation to make reasonable inquiries or to draw defence's attention to certain documents arises, and what those obligations might entail in a particular case.
- 112. As is the case with the UK, Canada has struggled to cope with the burdens imposed by its disclosure regime. The Canadian experience is again a reminder that disclosure reforms must bear in mind the practical workability of disclosure obligations.

4.3 New Zealand

4.3.1 Criminal disclosure procedures

- 113.New Zealand has a codified disclosure regime, found in the *Criminal Disclosure Act 2008* (NZ). The Act provides for staged disclosure:
 - (a) Within 15 working days after the commencement of criminal proceedings, the prosecutor (typically at this stage a police officer) must provide **limited initial disclosure** to the accused, consisting of: the charges; a summary of the facts alleged; a summary of the accused's right to apply for further information; the maximum and minimum penalties applicable for the offences with which the accused has been charged; and the accused's previous convictions.
 - (b) The defence can then make a request in writing for further disclosure of certain categories of material, such as: the names of witnesses whom the prosecutor intends to call; a list of exhibits; copies of records of interviews with the accused, prosecution witnesses and any co-accused; copies of job sheets or other police officer notes; and a list

See the discussion in "6.3 Duty to disclose to the Director the existence of relevant material" below.

- of information that the prosecution refuses to disclose to the accused together with reasons for the refusal.
- (c) It is only once an accused has pleaded not guilty that the prosecutor is required to make **full disclosure** of all relevant information. At this time, the accused will also be provided with an updated list of information that the prosecution refuses to disclose to the accused. Full disclosure is required to occur as soon as is reasonably practicable after the accused pleads guilty.
- (d) Defence have a further opportunity to request further disclosure after full disclosure has been made.
- 114. Section 30 of the *Criminal Disclosure Act* provides that an accused can apply to the court for an order that a particular item or information withheld by the prosecution be disclosed. Upon such an application, the court can order that any particular item of information or type of information be disclosed, including on the ground that the interests protected by the withholding of the information are outweighed by other considerations that make it desirable, in the public interest, to disclose the information.
- 115. To assist with managing the disclosure process, the officer in charge of a police investigation creates a Disclosure Index when a case file is opened. The Index is populated with the description and disclosure status (e.g. provided to accused, or withheld) of relevant material. Material determined not to be relevant is not included in the Index. The Index is updated during the life of the case file. While it is not provided to the accused at the initial disclosure stage, it is provided at all subsequent stages of disclosure, including in response to defence requests for further disclosure and at the full disclosure stage. Where the Index has been updated, a new version of the Index will be provided to the accused with the next delivery of disclosure materials.

4.3.2 Disclosure challenges

116.As has been the experience in other jurisdictions, certain kinds of investigations — for example, organised crime or fraud — tend to produce case files of considerable size and, consequently, a large number of potentially disclosable documents. These kinds of matters have been identified by NZ Police as posing the greatest challenge from a disclosure perspective, 103 no doubt because of the sheer amount of resources required to comply with disclosure requirements.

¹⁰³ NZ Police Manual, Criminal Disclosure (Version 14.0), 23.

117.To date, the *Criminal Disclosure Act* has not been the subject of any wide-ranging review, and the decided cases on disclosure ¹⁰⁴ do not point to any systemic disclosure issues.

4.3.3 Commentary

- of materials to be disclosed at the initial stage of criminal proceedings. This avoids the problem, identified in the Steering Committee Report in Canada, of investigators investing considerable time in assessing material for disclosure only to have the matter resolve by plea.
- 119.Another advantage of the *Criminal Disclosure Act* is that it expressly provides for a statutory mechanism (s.30) by which disclosure disputes can be brought before a court. A significant limitation of this procedure, however, is that it only provides for an *accused* to bring an *application for disclosure* to the court. There is no provision for a prosecuting agency, such as the police, to bring an application for *non-disclosure* to the court. The procedure therefore assumes that an accused will be aware of the existence of all material that might be sought to be withheld by the prosecution. As has been discussed above, and will be discussed further below, the background to this Royal Commission demonstrates that there are circumstances in which the disclosure of the existence of sensitive material may be prejudicial to the public interest. The s.30 procedure in the *Criminal Disclosure Act* is unable to assist in these kinds of cases.

4.4 Other Australian jurisdictions

120. The Australian States and Territories have taken varied approaches to disclosure. This paper does not seek to summarise all of those approaches. Instead, this section briefly highlights aspects of the disclosure regime in New South Wales and Western Australia that are relevant to the recommendations made in this paper.

4.4.1 New South Wales

- 121.Like Victoria, disclosure obligations in NSW are found in both statute (especially the *Criminal Procedure Act 1986* (NSW), Chapter 3 Part 3 Division 3) and the common law. ¹⁰⁵
- 122. One aspect of the NSW legislative regime which has no counterpart in the Victorian legislation is s 15A of the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986* (NSW). This creates a duty on the part of law enforcement officers to disclose to the Director all relevant

¹⁰⁴ See, e.g., Hutton v The Queen [2018] NZHC 662; R v Bublitz [2017] NZHC 159; Liev v The Queen [2017] NZHC 1352; Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment v Centreport Ltd [2014] NZHC 2751.

¹⁰⁵ Section 149F(5) of the *Criminal Procedure Act 1986* (NSW) expressly states that ch 3 pt 3 div 3 does *not* preclude the application of common law obligations of disclosure, but the Division prevails to the extent of any inconsistency.

information obtained during the course of an investigation "that might reasonably be expected to assist the case for the prosecution or the case for the accused". In the event that relevant information is subject to a claim of privilege, public interest immunity or statutory immunity, the law enforcement officer's duty is to inform the Director of the existence of that information and the reasons why it cannot be disclosed. Under s 15A(7), the Director is given the power to request such material, in which case the law enforcement officer must provide it.

- 123. This duty upon law enforcement officers is reinforced by a certification process, by which officers:
 - 1. provide to the Director schedules listing any relevant material that has not been disclosed to the Director and the reasons for the withholding of that material; and
 - 2. sign a certificate acknowledging that they are aware of their duty of disclosure, certifying that the information and lists they have provided to the Director are true to the best of their knowledge, and undertaking to advise the Director as soon as practicable after they become aware of additional relevant information. ¹⁰⁶
- 124. The certificate signed by the law enforcement officer, together with the schedules of withheld material, are provided to defence. Where the DPP considers that the schedules provided by a law enforcement officer are inadequate, the officer will be asked to provide an updated disclosure certificate with more fulsome descriptions of the withheld material.
- 125.In Supreme Court matters, the officer in charge of an investigation is required to swear an affidavit regarding disclosure obligations. This is a matter of Supreme Court practice, ¹⁰⁷ as opposed to a legislative requirement.
- 126. Section 15A is discussed further below ("6.3 Duty to disclose to the Director the existence of relevant material").

4.4.2 Western Australia

127. The Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA), like the Criminal Disclosure Act 2008 (NZ), provides for a detailed disclosure procedure. 108 Like the NZ regime, the Western Australian legislation provides for staged disclosure: initial disclosure of limited material by the prosecutor (typically the police informant), followed by full disclosure after the accused has

¹⁰⁶ Director of Public Prosecutions Regulation 2015 (NSW). sch 1.

¹⁰⁷ Supreme Court of New South Wales, Practice Note SC CL 2, [9].

¹⁰⁸ It remains an open question whether the provisions of the CPA relating to disclosure comprise an exhaustive code: see *Bozzer v Western Australia* [2017] WASCA 226, [84].

- pleaded not guilty, and then disclosure by the relevant authorised officer (usually the DPP) after the accused has been committed for trial.
- 128.Two features of the Western Australian disclosure regime are worth highlighting here. The first is that, like NSW, it provides for certification by police investigators to the DPP. Section 45 of the *Criminal Procedure Act* provides that after an accused is committed for trial on a charge, the prosecutor (typically the police informant) must give the relevant authorised officer (typically the DPP) copies of disclosure material already provided to the accused and a signed certificate stating that the prosecutor's disclosure obligations to date have been complied with. It is an offence to knowingly or without reasonable diligence sign a certificate that is false in a material particular. The s.45 certificate must be provided to the accused. 109
- 129. The second is that, like NZ, the Western Australian legislation provides for an express statutory mechanism for resolving disclosure disputes. Unlike the NZ provision, however, s 138 of the *Criminal Procedure Act* allows prosecutors to apply for a *dispensation* from all or part of a disclosure requirement, and such applications can be made *ex parte*. The court can make such orders if satisfied that there is good reason to do so and no miscarriage of justice will result. Section 138 is discussed further below ("8 Resolving PII and non-disclosure obligations").

¹⁰⁹ Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA) s 95(6).

5 Improving police capacity to comply with disclosure obligations

5.1 Training and guidance

130.Lord Justice Gross said in his 2011 review of disclosure in England: 110

Disclosure is only as good as the person doing it. In the typical English prosecution, the "person doing it" will most likely be a police officer. We recommend that proper training in issues of disclosure, extending to an appropriate "mindset", should be part and parcel of the professional development of a police investigator.

131. The 2017 HMCPSI and HMCI review¹¹¹ observed:

This inspection has identified a number of reasons for this significant failure in the process of disclosure and they form the basis of our recommendations. There needs to be improvement in the training provided to police and in the supervision provided to both police and prosecutors.

132. The DPP shares the view that substantial improvements are necessary in the training and in the guidance available for Victoria Police members in relation to disclosure obligations. Efforts of senior officers to introduce improvements in these areas should be supported. Much remains to be done.

5.2 Access to legal advice

- 133. Many of the problems which emerged from the recruitment and use of Ms Gobbo as a human source, and the failure to disclose her conduct, could have been avoided had the police obtained timely legal advice from the Victorian Government Solicitor or from experienced counsel.
- 134.Even in more routine types of investigations, officers may benefit from obtaining early independent legal advice about disclosure obligations in the course of an investigation. An advantage of doing so is that police will then be better prepared to take promptly any necessary steps to protect information which is subject to PII.
- 135. Victoria Police should encourage members to obtain such independent advice and increase the opportunities to do so.
- 136. While OPP solicitors are able to respond to certain police queries about prosecutions, the importance of maintaining the independence of the OPP and the Victoria Police means that legal advice about complex disclosure issues, including PII, should be sought from Victoria Police's own independent legal advisers, such as the Victorian Government Solicitor.

¹¹⁰ Lord Justice Gross, Review of Disclosure in Criminal Proceedings (September 2011) 7.

¹¹¹ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017) 3 [1.4].

37

5.3 Upgrade of information systems

- 137.A major theme from reviews of disclosure problems in the UK is that better use of technology is a major tool in achieving improvements in disclosure. 112
- 138.Developing more efficient, effective, stable and secure information systems across Victoria Police poses major challenges and may involve substantial investment, but it is a matter of very considerable importance.

112 See, for example, Attorney-General's Office, *Review of the Efficiency and Effectiveness of Disclosure in the Criminal Justice System* (November 2018), Chapter 6.

6 Encouraging greater police compliance with disclosure obligations

- 139.In the Director's submission, there are a number of legislative improvements that can be made to encourage and facilitate more effective working of the disclosure regime in Victoria.
- 140. These changes can be made without any radical change to the essential features of the disclosure regime. A number of the suggested changes involve putting into statute requirements which already exist at common law. Others involve tweaking and reinforcing existing legislative requirements. The changes envisaged would strengthen the existing regime, increase the likelihood of compliance, ensure greater accountability and allow for expeditious resolution of issues, without being unduly burdensome or undermining the workability of the disclosure regime.
- 141. Although these changes are predicated on existing criminal procedure, as noted earlier (at [74]), adoption of them could be dovetailed with, and would complement, other reforms of the criminal justice process advocated by the DPP.

6.1 Explicit requirement to disclose the existence of PII material

- 142.In the experience of the OPP, a recurring issue is that investigators sometimes do not disclose the existence of relevant material to the prosecutor or to the defence because the view is taken that the material is subject to PII. This approach is fundamentally contrary to law. Moreover, as the circumstances leading to this Royal Commission demonstrate, it is highly problematic: it prevents claims of PII from being tested by the defence, and results in the police, rather than a court, effectively being the final arbiter on PII.
- 143. The persistence of this misconception requires that legislation reinforce the principle that it is not open to an investigator or investigative agency to conceal the existence of relevant material merely on the basis that the investigator or agency believes that its disclosure to an accused person is prohibited by statute or by a common law privilege or immunity.
- 144.In particular, it is the Director's view that the disclosure framework must provide for investigators to disclose, so far as possible, the *existence* of relevant material that may be subject to PII. Relevance and PII are distinct enquiries, and the legislative framework needs to make this explicit.
- 145.One method of achieving this would be to insert the following into the list of material satisfying the definition of material "relevant to the alleged offence" under s 110(e) of the CPA:

a list containing descriptions of any things relevant to the alleged offence which has not been included in the hand-up brief because of:

a claim of privilege or immunity; or a statutory prohibition.

146. This would be supported by the prescribing of a new Form required to be included with the hand-up brief that contains the following: 113

Schedule 1: relevant material that is subject of claim of privilege or immunity

There is relevant material, not contained in the hand-up brief, that is the subject of a claim of privilege, public interest immunity or statutory immunity. That material is described in the following table:

Description of item	Nature of privilege/immunity claim
[Example 1]	[Legal professional privilege]
[Example 2]	[Public interest immunity – investigative methodology]

Schedule 2: relevant material that is subject of statutory prohibition

There is relevant material, not contained in the hand-up brief, that is the subject of a statutory prohibition on publication and the existence of which I can disclose without contravening the statutory prohibition. That material is described in the following table [Describe the material only to the extent not prohibited by the statutory publication restriction]:

Description of item	
[Example 1]	
[Example 2]	

- 147. The aim is to ensure that defence are alerted to the existence of relevant material over which the privilege or immunity is claimed, or which is withheld because of a statutory prohibition. The defence would then have an opportunity to test the claim of privilege, immunity or statutory prohibition in accordance with a defined process, such as the Form 32 procedure and the procedure under s.122 of the CPA or the issue of a subpoena.
- 148. Such a requirement would be comparable to the practices in other jurisdictions, such as Western Australia and New South Wales. Anecdotal information from prosecution authorities in those jurisdictions is that the analogous requirements to provide lists of withheld material have been beneficial in improving disclosure, without proving unduly burdensome.

¹¹³ The form of these Schedules is based on those in the NSW Disclosure Certificate: see *Director of Public Prosecutions Regulation 2015* (NSW) Sch 1.

- 149. The legislative introduction of this list or schedule of withheld material should be accompanied by appropriate Victoria Police internal policies or procedures that provide guidance to investigators on how to describe withheld material and the corresponding claims of privilege, immunity or statutory prohibition.
- 150.In some circumstances, revelation of the existence of the material may create a risk of disclosure of its content. To deal with such circumstances, it is envisaged that there be a statutory mechanism by which the claim of privilege or immunity can be determined upon an *ex parte* application to a court. The proposed procedure is discussed below: see "8 Resolving PII and non-disclosure obligations". Under that procedure, if the court upholds the claim it could also, if appropriate, dispense with the requirement to disclose the existence of the material.

6.2 Legislative guidance on disclosable material

6.2.1 Specifying commonly-overlooked categories of material to be disclosed

- 151.In the submission of the DPP, it would be desirable to amend requirements in or under the CPA to specify certain types of material that under the existing law must be disclosed with a hand-up brief, but which are liable to be overlooked. Listing such matters would tend to focus the minds of investigators on compliance with disclosure obligations (especially if coupled with a requirement for the informant to certify such compliance, as discussed below: see "6.4 Certifying compliance with disclosure obligations").
- 152.It is stressed that it is neither necessary nor desirable to attempt to make a comprehensive legislative list of classes of material which ought to be disclosed. Attempts to do so in other jurisdictions have not been conspicuously successful, as they tend to harden into arbitrary and artificial rules. The aim should be to specify in the Act only matters which are clearly required to be disclosed in most cases, but have tended to be commonly overlooked.
- 153. The most important such category is material which is relevant to assessing the credibility of a prosecution witness. 114 The CPA makes no specific provision about such material, except in relation to a witness's previous convictions.

6.2.2 Other charges against a prosecution witness

154. The CPA makes special provision in relation to disclosure of the particulars of previous convictions of a prosecution witness. 115 There is no requirement to disclose such convictions

¹¹⁴ As to the admissibility of credibility evidence see Part 3.7 of the *Evidence Act 2008* (Vic). Evidence as to the credibility of a witness (as defined in s.101A of the Act and in the Dictionary to the Act) includes evidence as to reliability as well as truthfulness: *Dupas v R* (2012) 40 VR 182, [265].

in a hand-up brief, but they may be requested by the defence in a case direction notice. ¹¹⁶ If they are so requested, the informant may object to the disclosure of any such particulars if the previous conviction is, because of its character, irrelevant to the proceeding, but the informant must advise the accused of the existence of any undisclosed previous convictions. ¹¹⁷ A similar requirement applies in proceedings on indictment. ¹¹⁸

155.In the submission of the DPP, these procedures and requirements should be extended to include:

particulars of any outstanding charge against a person on whose evidence the prosecution intends to rely in the committal proceeding; and

particulars of any charge which has been withdrawn or discontinued against such a person—

if the person is alleged to be a co-offender of the accused, or if the charge, or its withdrawal or discontinuation, is relevant to assessing the credibility of the person or is otherwise relevant to the proceeding.

6.2.3 Sentence reductions or other benefits for assistance to authorities

156.Disclosure issues may arise where a prosecution witness against an accused person or a cooffender of an accused person has been sentenced for an offence and the sentencing court has reduced the sentence because of that person's assistance to authorities or undertaking to assist in future.

157. The existence of the sentence reduction may be relevant in proceedings against the accused in various ways. For example:

the sentence reduction (and the surrounding circumstances) may be relevant to the assessment of the person's credibility or reliability if the person is a prosecution witness; ¹¹⁹ or

the existence of the sentence reduction may be relevant to the sentencing of the accused, in applying the principles of parity or equal justice. 120

¹¹⁵ CPA, ss.43(1)(e), 45(3), 119(e), 122, 187. See also *Magistrates' Court Criminal Procedure Rules 2009* (Vic), Forms 30 and 32. The CPA does not require disclosure of the particulars of any previous conviction which is, "because of its character, irrelevant to the proceeding" (see ss.45(3), 122(3), 187(2)).

¹¹⁶ CPA, s.119(e)(iii).

¹¹⁷ CPA, s.122(3).

¹¹⁸ CPA, s.187.

¹¹⁹ E.g. Grey v R (2001) 75 ALJR 1708.

- 158.Other benefits, such as charge reductions or indemnities, provided to a prosecution witness in connection with their assistance will also often be relevant to assessing the witness's credibility.
- 159. The prosecution duty of disclosure will apply whenever the sentence reduction (or other benefit) is relevant to the proceedings against the accused, in accordance with the disclosure principles described in the DPP's policy. A common example is where a sentence reduction has been given to a prosecution witness because that person has undertaken to give evidence against the accused if called upon to do so.
- 160. The need for disclosure of such material is sometimes misunderstood or overlooked by investigators, particularly where it is relevant to the credibility of a prosecution witness.
- 161.It is therefore suggested that the following types of material be specifically listed as disclosable, preferably by inclusion in the list in s.110(e) of the CPA:
 - if a person referred to in s.110(d)(iv) has been sentenced by a court and the court has taken into account information, co-operation or assistance that the person has provided, or has undertaken to provide, to a law enforcement agency—
 - o a copy or other record of the sentencing remarks;
 - a copy of any document tendered or submitted to the court or any record of evidence to the court which specified the information or assistance provided or the undertaking given;
 - a record of any undertaking, indemnity, letter of comfort or other benefit provided to a person referred to in s.110(d)(iv) by or on behalf of the prosecution in connection with the provision of a statement or of information or assistance relevant to the proceedings; and
 - any other record which is relevant to the assessment of the credibility of a person referred to in s.110(d)(iv).
- 162. If the informant believes that disclosure of any such information would be contrary to a statute, or to a privilege or immunity, the information would not itself be disclosable, but its

¹²⁰ The relevant principles are set out in *Lowe v R* (1984) 154 CLR 606; *Green v R* (2011) 244 CLR 462. In Victoria, parity or equal justice principles have been applied not only in the sentencing of co-offenders or other parties to the same criminal enterprise, but also to offenders with a more tenuous connection, such as a common victim: *Farrugia v R* (2011) 32 VR 140. Courts in New South Wales (see *Baladjam v R* [2018] NSWCCA 304, [146]-[149]) and Queensland (*R v Leathers* [2014] QCA 327; *R v Hughes* [2018] 2 Qd R 134) have declined to extend the application of the relevant principles so far.

existence must be disclosed and the basis for its non-disclosure must be set out (for example, in the new Form proposed at [146] above).

- 163.It is envisaged that a court would be empowered to waive any of these requirements if it were necessary to do so (for example, where disclosure would tend to create an undue risk of harm to the person). A proposed procedure by which this could be done is discussed below (see "8 Resolving PII and non-disclosure obligations").
- 164. The disclosure of material relating to sentencing reductions given to prosecution witnesses for assistance provided poses particular procedural problems because:

it is not always the case that the sentencing remarks, or at least the sentencing remarks that are publicly available, will disclose the fact and nature of the assistance provided; and sentencing remarks that are publicly available and do disclose the fact of assistance may be published using a pseudonym for the offender (and sometimes other persons) and subject to court orders that prohibit the identification of a person who is referred to by a pseudonym.

165. These procedural problems, and possible solutions, are discussed below ("9 Sentencing of co-offender or prosecution witness where relevant assistance provided").

6.2.4 Material relevant to the credibility of a complainant

166.A related category of material that has caused disclosure issues in a number of Australian cases is evidence affecting the credibility of the complainant. For example, in *Colagrande*, 121 there had been a failure to disclose that the complainant had sought to withdraw her complaint of the accused's sexual offending prior to trial and had provided a written statement setting out the reasons why she wished to withdraw her complaint. In *HAU*, 122 *D v Western Australia*, 123 and *Lewis-Hamilton*, 124 there had been failures to disclose victim impact statements by the complainants. In *D*, the Western Australian Court of Appeal observed that as a general rule, the prosecution bears a positive obligation to disclose any victim impact statement containing relevant information that is in the hands of the prosecution prior to or during the trial.

¹²¹ R v Colagrande [2019] 1 Qd R 241. See also PAH v Western Australia [2015] WASCA 159, where the prosecutor's failure to disclose the complainant's oral statements that she wanted to discontinue her complaint of child sexual offences was held to constitute a material irregularity in the statutory pre-trial procedures mandated by the Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA), but which caused no substantial miscarriage of justice.

¹²² R v HAU [2009] QCA 165.

¹²³ D v Western Australia [2007] WASCA 272.

¹²⁴ R v Lewis-Hamilton [1998] 1 VR 630.

167. This category of material would be caught by the residual category of disclosable material suggested above (at [161]): "any other record which is relevant to the assessment of the credibility of a person referred to in s.110(d)(iv)". However, it may be desirable to provide for express reference in s.110(e) to this kind of material, to ensure that investigators turn their mind to whether such material is available. The additional categories could be described along similar lines to what currently appears in the Form 30:

a copy of -

any victim impact statement made by a complainant that relates to the alleged offence;

any other statement made by a complainant to any member of the police force or to a prosecutor that relates to the alleged offence and contains an acknowledgement of its truthfulness.

6.3 Duty to disclose to the Director the existence of relevant material

6.3.1 Need for the prosecutor to be informed of the existence of relevant unused material

- 168. For the purpose of conducting proceedings on indictment and the performance by the DPP of its other functions, it is essential that investigators disclose to the prosecution the existence of all information that is relevant to an alleged offence, so that the prosecutor can then make the requisite disclosure to the defence (if it has not already been made).
- 169. The DPP should generally be informed of the existence of relevant information even if investigators believe that it cannot be disclosed (whether because of PII, privilege, an applicable statutory prohibition or for some other reason). As courts have repeatedly emphasised, 125 it is not for investigators to make a unilateral decision to conceal the existence of relevant information.
- 170. The DPP submits that a statutory provision should be enacted to give effect to this requirement and to provide for an appropriate procedure for investigators to disclose to the prosecution the existence and nature of sensitive material.

6.3.2 NSW requirement for investigators to disclose the existence of material to the DPP

171.To ensure investigators make appropriate disclosure to the prosecution, in 2001 the New South Wales Parliament amended the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986* (NSW) by inserting s 15A. In its current form, that section relevantly provides:

Duty to provide relevant information to Director

(1) Law enforcement officers investigating alleged offences have a duty to disclose to the Director all relevant information, documents or other things obtained during

¹²⁵ See the authorities cited in footnote 44.

- the investigation that might reasonably be expected to assist the case for the prosecution or the case for the accused person.
- (1A) The duty of disclosure arises only if the Director exercises any function under this Act or Part 2 of Chapter 3 of the Criminal Procedure Act 1986 with respect to the prosecution of the offence (including in connection with a law enforcement officer seeking advice from the Director under section 14A of the Criminal Procedure Act 1986 about the commencement of proceedings for an offence).
- (2) The duty of disclosure continues until one of the following happens:
 - (a) the Director decides that the accused person will not be prosecuted for the alleged offence,
 - (b) the prosecution is terminated,
 - (c) the accused person is convicted or acquitted.
- (3) Law enforcement officers investigating alleged offences also have a duty to retain any such documents or other things for so long as the duty to disclose them continues under this section. This subsection does not affect any other legal obligation with respect to the possession of the documents or other things.
- (4) The regulations may make provision for or with respect to the duties of law enforcement officers under this section, including for or with respect to:
 - (a) the recording of any such information, documents or other things, and
 - (b) verification of compliance with any such duty.
- (5) The duty imposed by this section is in addition to any other duties of law enforcement officers in connection with the investigation and prosecution of offences.
- (6) The duty imposed by this section does not require law enforcement officers to provide to the Director any information, documents or other things:
 - (a) that are the subject of a claim of privilege, public interest immunity or statutory immunity, or
 - (b) that would contravene a statutory publication restriction if so provided.
- (7) The duty of a law enforcement officer in such a case is to inform the Director of:
 - (a) the existence of any information, document or other thing of that kind, and
 - (b) the nature of that information, document or other thing and the claim or publication restriction relating to it.

However, a law enforcement officer must provide to the Director any information, document or other thing of that kind if the Director requests it to be provided.

172. "Law enforcement officer" is defined in s.15A(9) to include a police officer or certain staff of other specified NSW agencies (including the NSW Crime Commission and the Independent Commission Against Corruption). "Statutory publication restriction" is defined in s.15A(9) to mean a prohibition or restriction on publication imposed by or under particular NSW Acts.

- 173.As originally enacted, the requirement in s.15A(1) was unqualified. In *Lipton*, ¹²⁶ the NSW Court of Appeal held that it was not sufficient for the police merely to advise the Director that the police held relevant material without disclosing its content; the provision required police to physically produce such material to the Director, even if the police took the view that the material was subject to a bona fide claim of PII. So construed, the provision was unnecessarily burdensome and risked compromising the security of sensitive material.
- 174.In response to the decision in *Lipton*, s.15A was amended by adding sub-sections (6) and (7).¹²⁷ The effect of the amendments was to make clear that a law enforcement officer is not required to provide to the DPP any original material that is the subject of a claim of privilege, public interest immunity or statutory immunity, or the provision of which would contravene a statutory restriction. Instead the officer must inform the DPP of the existence and nature of any such material. The law enforcement officer must also inform the DPP of the nature of the claim or publication restriction relating to it. The material itself need only be provided to the DPP if the DPP so requests.

6.3.3 Adapting the NSW requirement for Victoria

175.In order to adapt the NSW requirement for Victoria, two modifications should be made.

176. The first modification which is proposed concerns the reference in s.15A(1) to "relevant information". The duty of disclosure under that provision applies to "all relevant information, documents or other things obtained during the investigation that might reasonably be expected to assist the case for the prosecution or the case for the accused person." It would be preferable to align the requirement with the disclosure requirements in the CPA. Those requirements, in relation to unused material, refer to material that is "relevant to the alleged offence" (ss.41(1), 110; cf. ss.48(1), 114(1), 186(1)) or "relevant to the charge" (s.416). "Relevant" is not defined for the CPA, but has been understood as being informed by the scope of the common law obligations of disclosure (see "2.2.2 Common law obligations" above). That is, material would be relevant if it "can be seen on a sensible appraisal by the prosecution: (1) to be relevant or possibly relevant to an issue in the case; (2) to raise or possibly raise a new issue whose existence is not apparent from the evidence the prosecution proposes to use; (3) to hold out a real (as opposed to fanciful)

¹²⁶ R v Lipton (2011) 82 NSWLR 123.

¹²⁷ Director of Public Prosecutions Amendment (Disclosures) Act 2011 (NSW); Director of Public Prosecutions Amendment (Disclosures) Act 2012 (NSW).

- prospect of providing a lead on evidence which goes to (1) or (2)."128 The formulation in s.15A of the NSW Act may be construed as not fully or precisely capturing the notion of relevance which underlies the CPA and the common law. Therefore it would be preferable for sub-section (1) instead to provide as follows:
 - (1) Law enforcement officers investigating alleged offences have a duty to disclose to the Director all relevant information, documents or other things obtained during the investigation that might reasonably be expected to assist the case for the prosecution or the case for the accused person is relevant to an alleged offence.
- 177. The second proposed modification relates to the information which should be provided to the DPP about material or information which is subject to a claim of privilege, PII or statutory immunity or where a statutory publication restriction is said to apply.
- 178.As described below ("8 Resolving PII and non-disclosure obligations"), the prosecution usually plays no role in pursuing such a claim. The practice is that the claim is argued by the investigative agency or other responsible agency, not the prosecutor. The purpose of this practice is to avoid conflicts of interest and to ensure that the independence of the prosecutor is maintained. It is usually preferable that the DPP is not informed of the content of the material or information, unless and until it is necessary for the proper performance of the prosecutor's functions.
- 179.In most cases, whether particular material or information is required to be withheld from the accused on the grounds of PII, privilege or a statutory prohibition will have no effect on the conduct of the prosecution.
- 180.In practice, material or information which is held to be subject to PII, privilege or a statutory prohibition is very often such that, on reasonable appraisal, it would not be capable of weakening the prosecution case or strengthening that of the defendant. The material or information is more often such as would tend to incriminate the accused or is entirely neutral. Only in a small minority of cases does a serious question arise about whether it would be fair to an accused to continue the proceedings or the particular charge because material or information cannot be disclosed.
- 181.It is generally undesirable that sensitive information be disseminated unnecessarily. There is usually no need for the prosecution to consider the content of the sensitive material unless there is some basis for considering whether its non-disclosure could have an effect on fairness of the trial. To do so unnecessarily is also a waste of prosecutors' time.

¹²⁸ R. v Melvin (unreported), 20 December 1993, which was adopted and applied in R v Keane [1994] 1 WLR 746; R v Brown (Winston) [1998] AC 367, 376-7. See also Policy of the Director of Public Prosecutions for Victoria (17 December 2019), [15]-[16].

- 182. To this end, the procedure in relation to such material should be clarified. It is proposed that the relevant provisions be amended to read as follows:
 - (6) The duty imposed by this section does not require law enforcement officers to provide to the Director any information, documents or other things:
 - (a) that are the subject of a claim of privilege, public interest immunity or statutory immunity, or
 - (b) that would contravene a statutory publication restriction if so provided.
 - (7) The duty of a law enforcement officer in such a case is to inform the Director of:
 - (a) the existence of any information, document or other thing of that kind, and
 - (b) the nature of that information, document or other thing and the claim or publication restriction relating to it; and
 - (c) whether the information, document or other thing might reasonably be expected to substantially weaken the case for the prosecution or substantially strengthen that of the defendant.

However, a law enforcement officer must provide to the Director any information, document or other thing of that kind if the Director requests it to be provided.

- (8) A law enforcement officer must provide to the Director any information, document or other thing of that kind if the Director requests it to be provided, but not otherwise.
- 183.Proposed sub-section (7)(c) reflects a requirement under a recent amendment to the Director's Policy (set out at [54] above).

6.3.4 Victoria should enact a provision based on s.15A of the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act* 1986 (NSW)

- 184. The DPP submits that, to avoid potential disclosure failures arising from information not being provided to prosecutors, a provision should be inserted into the *Public Prosecutions Act 1994* (Vic) along the lines of s.15A of the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986* (NSW). With the modifications described above, that section provides a suitable precedent for a provision which sets out the requirement for investigators to make disclosure to the DPP.
- 185. The enactment and proper use of such a provision should not create undue burdens for either the police or the DPP. In most cases, the DPP only becomes involved in a prosecution at the committal or post-committal stage. The proposed duty would cut in at that stage. In most cases, a hand-up brief either will then be in preparation or will have been served. If the requirements of the CPA are being or have been complied with, relevant unused material would have already been identified (especially if the Act is amended as proposed elsewhere in this submission). If relevant material is subject to a claim of privilege, PII or a statutory prohibition on disclosure, in general either its existence should have been notified to the defence or steps should have been taken to obtain a court ruling on the claim.

- 186.It must be emphasised that, under the NSW provision, a law enforcement officer is not generally required to provide to the DPP originals or copies of sensitive material that is, material which is subject to a claim of PII, privilege or statutory immunity or which is subject to a statutory prohibition on disclosure. The obligation is to inform the DPP of the existence and nature of such material and the nature of the claim or restriction. This minimises the risk of compromising the security of sensitive material and avoids the requirement from being overly burdensome. The same obligation would apply under the proposed provision.
- 187. However, as in NSW, a law enforcement officer would be required to provide to the Director any such information, document or thing if the DPP requests it to be provided. This would enable the DPP to call for and examine any such material when it is necessary to do so, even if a court has determined that the document is subject to a privilege or immunity. That power provides a necessary and appropriate safeguard. For example, the DPP may need to examine such material to determine:

whether disclosure to the defence of the existence of the material is required; or whether an *ex parte* ruling should be obtained from a court about the claim of privilege or immunity; or

if a court has determined that the material is privileged or immune from disclosure, whether its non-disclosure would be likely to cause an unfair trial and if so whether any remedial steps can be taken; or

if a trial has been completed, whether non-disclosure of the material may have caused an unfair trial.

- 188.Enactment of a provision similar to s.15A would encourage better decision-making about relevant material which is subject to a claim of privilege or immunity or a relevant statutory publication restriction. The need to identify such material, and the basis of the claim, would serve as a reminder of the legal principles in particular that investigators have no right to make unilateral decisions to conceal the existence of relevant material, and that even material which is found by a court to be privileged or immune from disclosure may affect prosecution decisions.
- 189. Although the question has not been authoritatively determined in Victoria, appellate courts in other States have recognised that police have a duty at common law to inform the prosecuting authority adequately of all material that might have to be disclosed to an accused

(even if the police consider the material to be subject to PII). ¹²⁹ In *Lipton*, the NSW Court of Criminal Appeal noted that s15A of the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986* (NSW) "was intended to reflect the common law obligation of police disclosure". ¹³⁰

190.Accordingly, the enactment of a statutory duty should not impose significant additional burdens on Victoria Police beyond those which the law already requires.

6.4 Certifying compliance with disclosure obligations

6.4.1 No current requirement for informant to certify

- 191. The current Form 30 is required to be signed by the informant. However, there is no requirement for the informant to certify that, to the best of his or her knowledge or belief, the informant's disclosure obligations have been complied with.
- 192.On the basis of the experience of other jurisdictions, the DPP considers that the addition of a requirement to certify to a court that there has been full disclosure would usefully focus the minds of informants on the need for full compliance with their disclosure obligations.

6.4.2 Examples of requirements to certify disclosure

- 193.As discussed above, in New South Wales and Western Australia, an investigator must provide certification in relation to disclosure.
- 194.In New South Wales (where committal hearings have been abolished), a law enforcement officer is required to certify that full disclosure has been made to the DPP in accordance with s.15A of the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986* (NSW).¹³¹ The prescribed form of disclosure certificate is set out in regulations under that Act.¹³²
- 195.In trials in the Supreme Court of NSW in State matters, the prosecution has been required since 2015 to file an affidavit by the law enforcement officer in charge of the case confirming the compliance by the relevant investigating agency as at arraignment with its duty of disclosure as set out in s 15A.¹³³
- 196.In Western Australia, after committal, the committal prosecutor (that is, usually, the police informant) must give the relevant prosecution authority (usually the State DPP) a certificate

¹²⁹ R v Solomon (2005) 92 SASR 331, [116] (Doyle CJ, with whom Duggan and Sulan JJ agreed); cf. R v Lipton (2011) 82 NSWLR 123, [92]-[102]. South Australia has since enshrined the duty referred to by Doyle CJ, as it relates to documentary material, in statute: see now Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1991 (SA), s.10A. 130 R v Lipton (2011) 82 NSWLR 123, [107].

¹³¹ Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986 (NSW), s.15A(4); Director of Public Prosecutions Regulation 2015 (NSW), reg. 5 and Schedule 1.

¹³² Director of Public Prosecutions Regulation 2015 (NSW), reg. 5 and Schedule 1.

¹³³ Supreme Court of NSW, Practice Note SC CL 2, [9].

by an investigator certifying that all relevant evidentiary material has been served or made available to the accused and provided to the prosecution authority.¹³⁴ The certifying officer must state their grounds for so certifying and any inquiries made by the person before so certifying, where inquiry has been necessary.¹³⁵ The prosecution authority is required to serve the certificate on the accused, together with any relevant material which has not already been served.¹³⁶

197. The DPP has been told that the introduction of these requirements has markedly improved police compliance with disclosure obligations.

6.4.3 Timing of certification

- 198. The greatest benefits from the introduction of a certification requirement are likely to come in cases which are being prepared for trial on indictment. At least initially, certification should be required only in those cases and only after committal or direct indictment.
- 199.Disclosure requirements in criminal proceedings are ongoing. At the time of initial disclosure (for example, with a hand-up brief), there may be little indication of what the real issues in the proceeding are likely to be (e.g. where the accused has declined to answer questions in a record of interview). Prosecution disclosure requires a sensible appraisal of relevance, not speculation as to issues or defences which are then no more than fanciful possibilities.
- 200. The issues in a criminal proceeding often evolve over a period of time. It is common for an issue to be raised by the defence which is not apparent from perusal of the prosecution brief. The raising of such an issue may require assessment of material held by the investigative agency which was not previously considered relevant (such as seized material which appeared to be irrelevant or material obtained in the course of a different investigation).
- 201.Unfortunately, despite all the steps that have been taken in recent years to identify and narrow issues in trials and to improve case management, it is still common for such issues to emerge only late in the course of the proceedings: after committal, after the filing of the indictment, after the filing of the summary of the prosecution opening, after the commencement of the trial or even after the closure of the prosecution case. Managing compliance with disclosure obligations is just one of the problems this creates.

¹³⁴ Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA) ss 45(2)(d), (3)(f), (5). Disclosure obligations are subject to, amongst other things, privilege and PII: s.137A.

¹³⁵ Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA) ss 45(5)(c).

¹³⁶ Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA) s 95.

- 202.In the view of the DPP, the most appropriate time for certification of disclosure requirements in a proceeding on indictment is after the defence is first required to identify the issues in the trial. At present this occurs upon filing of the defence response to the prosecution opening.¹³⁷
- 203. The defence response to the prosecution opening may require further consideration of whether additional material must be disclosed. Therefore a reasonable period (e.g. 14 days) should be allowed after the defence response for the filing of a certificate. The period should be subject to variation by the trial court.
- 204. The requirement for certification of disclosure could be included by way of inserting after s.185 of the CPA a provision along the following lines:

185AA Certification of disclosure

After being served with a copy of the documents referred to in section 183, the prosecution must within 14 days (or such other time as the court directs) serve on the accused and file in court a certificate by the law enforcement officer in charge of the case confirming the compliance by the relevant investigating agency with its duties of disclosure under this Act and section *** of the Public Prosecutions Act 1994 (Vic).

- 205. It may also be desirable to include an obligation to provide the accused with an updated list of material withheld on privilege/immunity or statutory prohibition grounds, if that list has changed since the time of the hand-up brief (see discussion above at paragraph[146]). This could be incorporated into the above legislative provision, or into the relevant regulations.
- 206. The allowance for a reasonable period for the prosecution to file a disclosure certificate may necessitate amendments to the timeframes currently contemplated by ss 182 and 183 of the CPA for the filing and service of the prosecution opening and defence response. Those timeframes are predicated on all relevant documents being filed and served by 14 days prior to the trial commencement date.
- 207.If in future the CPA were to be amended to require defence identification of issues at an earlier stage of criminal proceedings (a change which the DPP has advocated¹³⁸), the time for certification of full disclosure could also be brought forward.

¹³⁷ Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (Vic) s 183.

¹³⁸ See, e.g., Director of Public Prosecutions (Vic), *Proposed Reforms to Reduce Further Trauma to Victims and Witnesses* (Policy Paper, 1 October 2018) (published at http://www.opp.vic.gov.au/Home/Resources/1-October-2018-Director-s-Policy-Paper). The Director's proposals to replace committals with case management hearings includes suggestions that defence be required to provide a list of issues early in the criminal proceedings.

53

6.4.4 Content of certificate

208. The form of the disclosure certificate would be prescribed by regulations and can be adapted from the requirements in NSW and WA. The certificate should attest that, to the best of the officer's knowledge and belief, all applicable disclosure requirements under the CPA (including ongoing requirements) and the requirements under the proposed provision in the *Public Prosecutions Act* (see "6.3 Duty to disclose to the Director the existence of relevant material") have been complied with by the relevant investigating agency.

7 Monitoring of police compliance

7.1 The need for monitoring of compliance

- 209.At present, compliance by Victoria Police with their disclosure obligations is not subject to any system of auditing or monitoring. The lack of independent monitoring of the disclosure process has contributed to the compliance failures that have been highlighted by this Royal Commission.
- 210.In the submission of the DPP, an effective system for independent auditing and review of compliance by Victoria Police with disclosure obligations is an essential part of any systemic response to the failures disclosed by this Royal Commission. Without such auditing and review, it can never be known whether other measures to change police culture and to improve compliance with disclosure obligations are working.
- 211.Monitoring would complement other measures proposed in this submission, such as additional specification of material to be served with a hand-up brief, requirements to inform the DPP of relevant unserved material and requirements for police to certify full disclosure. The prospect of monitoring will increase the effectiveness of these requirements. It will encourage police to obtain independent legal advice if in doubt and to follow such advice. It will also allow any systemic non-compliance issues to be addressed so as to prevent future disclosure failures. Conversely, clearer disclosure requirements will provide a better standard against which to assess disclosure performance.
- 212. The concept of reviewing and reporting on police activity and compliance is not new to Victoria Police. For example, under the *Audit Act 1994*, the Victorian Auditor General recently provided a report auditing the management of Registered Sex Offenders. ¹³⁹ That report provided an assessment of how Victoria Police complied with the relevant procedures and guidelines as well as setting out recommendations for improvement of the management of certain offenders.

7.2 A Disclosure Monitor

213.In light of the issues outlined elsewhere in this submission regarding disclosure, the DPP submits that the Commission should recommend vesting in an independent body the function of monitoring and reporting on the disclosure by Victoria Police of disclosable material to accused persons and of the existence of potentially-disclosable unused material to the OPP.

¹³⁹ Victorian Auditor-General, Managing Sex Offenders (28 August 2019).

214. For the purposes of this submission, the relevant body will be referred to as the Disclosure Monitor (**DM**). Whether the function should be vested in an existing body (such as IBAC) or a new body established for the purpose would be a matter for consideration by Government.

7.3 The aims and functions of a monitoring regime

7.3.1 Improving systemic compliance with disclosure obligations

- 215. The main aim of a DM regime should be to improve overall compliance by Victoria Police with its disclosure obligations. The objective should be systemic: that is, reviews should be directed at identifying general shortcomings in disclosure practices, in order to improve guidance to police for future cases.
- 216. For this purpose, it would not be necessary for the DM to review disclosure in every case. Cases for review could be chosen at random or by class. For example, a review could be undertaken in cases (or a representative sample of cases) in which a prosecution witness had previously provided assistance to police; or cases involving the seizure of large volumes of electronic material. Or a review might focus on disclosure in cases for a particular offence type, or cases investigated by a particular unit or area of Victoria Police.
- 217. Significantly for this Royal Commission, the DM could be tasked with reviewing cases in which evidence was derived from an informer with an obligation of confidentiality.
- 218. There is something to be learnt from the procedure adopted by the 2017 joint review conducted in the UK by HMCPSI and HMIC. 140 The report noted, 141
 - In deciding what form the inspection should take, consideration was given to those recommendations which were most likely to have the greatest impact and improve performance across the criminal justice system.
- 219. That is, the reviewers made a strategic decision with a view to achieving the greatest systemic benefits, in light of previous reviews and emerging problem areas.
- 220. The report of that review presented aggregated data, with particular cases de-identified. To proceed in that way is more likely to encourage co-operation and openness by participants. It is also more conducive to identifying systemic issues.

¹⁴⁰ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017).

¹⁴¹ HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017), [2.7].

7.3.2 Focus on police practices not individual decisions

- 221. The focus of reviews by the DM would be on *the practices of Victoria Police* in relation to disclosure to the DPP and to the defence across a range of cases. That would include such matters as:
 - the extent to which hand-up briefs complied with the requirements of the CPA;
 - the extent to which relevant unused material was adequately and appropriately described in lists provided with hand-up briefs or lists provided to the DPP;
 - the extent to which appropriate steps had been taken to ascertain whether Victoria Police held any other potentially-disclosable material; and
 - the extent to which police had properly identified material that may be non-disclosable because of a statutory prohibition, privilege or immunity.
- 222. It is envisaged that the DM's review of the above matters in relation to a particular file would not require the DM to examine all of the material on the file. Many of the above matters would be ascertainable by the DM from reviewing a core set of documents. For example, by reviewing the hand-up brief that was filed and served in a matter, the DM would readily be able to ascertain whether the requisite forms required to be included with the hand-up brief had, in fact, been included and had been completed in a manner that provided relevant information to defence. Similarly, it will often be apparent on the face of a list or schedule of relevant material completed by an investigator whether the descriptions of that material provide sufficient information for defence to determine whether they wish to request or subpoena the material. Whether appropriate inquiries had been made by the investigator could be ascertained by speaking to the investigator and asking the investigator to provide documentary evidence of those inquiries. Consequently, the proposed reviews by the DM would not be excessively resource-intensive.
- 223. The aim of reviews would not be to identify materials that the DM considered to have been wrongly disclosed or wrongly omitted from disclosure in a particular case. That is, the DM's function would not be to second-guess or overturn police disclosure decisions. Rather, the aim would be to consider police practices and procedures, with a view to ensuring systemic improvements.
- 224.In the submission of the DPP, this systemic focus would be the most effective use of the resources of a DM, as it would be more likely to produce system-wide improvements. For example, the identification of systemic shortcomings in the descriptions of relevant but

- undisclosed material would enable specific training measures to be put in place to address this issue.
- 225. To develop this point, it is necessary to consider the implications of the alternative approach of reviewing the merits of individual police disclosure decisions. Three implications of adopting such an approach highlight its undesirability.
- 226. First, to engage in in-depth reviews of individual cases would be a far more time-consuming and resource-intensive task, because the DM would need to acquire very detailed knowledge about every aspect of the particular case under review. The DM would, in effect, not only need to master the final brief (as counsel briefed in the case might do), but would also need to cast a wide net over the whole of the investigation. To conduct an effective case review, the DM may need to examine every item of material and every piece of information obtained in the course of the investigation, and possibly other holdings by Victoria Police. The monitor would need a detailed knowledge of police procedures. To identify the issues in the case, the review would need to consider not only the filed documents such as the prosecution opening and defence response filed in accordance with the CPA but also the whole record of the committal hearing and trial to see whether any further issues emerged. The task would be so large that very few reviews could be conducted. If errors were found in those few cases, it would be impossible to determine whether they were isolated or systemic problems. For the deployment of the same resources, far more useful outcomes could instead be achieved from effective systemic reviews of a much larger number of cases.
- 227. Second, and even more fundamentally, reviewing the outcomes of police actions in relation to disclosure in individual cases would have far less utility than conducting systemic reviews. Consideration of whether material is potentially disclosable, or is potentially subject to PII, privilege or a statutory prohibition on disclosure, requires a detailed understanding of the material under consideration (including its provenance) and the issues to which it may give rise. Even if a reviewer has the skills, knowledge, experience and time to master the material, the reviewer can never have the same grip on that material as the investigators. Yet the conduct of a review which involved judging the merits of police conduct in relation to disclosure (as distinct from reviewing the processes and procedures followed in relation to disclosure) would necessarily involve the reviewer second-guessing the actions of police officers who would almost always know more about the subject-matter than the reviewer.

- 228. Third, there is a real danger that reviews of the outcomes of police actions in relation to disclosure in individual cases would lead to inappropriate intrusions into prosecutorial independence.
- 229.Once the DPP is aware of the existence of material that has been considered potentially-disclosable, a decision must be made about whether it is required to be disclosed, wholly or in part. A prosecution decision whether material is or is not disclosable is often complex and nuanced. That is particularly so when the material may be subject to PII, privilege or a statutory prohibition on disclosure. Decisions about these matters require an appreciation of the issues in the case, a detailed grasp of the evidence generally and a comprehensive understanding of the applicable law. The answer may require fine judgments, especially when competing interests are at stake (such as the complainant's right to privacy). Decisions about disclosure may also be bound up with decisions about charges, decisions about how a case should be put and decisions about what evidence should or should not be relied upon. These are all decisions about which the prosecutor bears a heavy and a lonely responsibility. 142
- 230.Because of the nature of these responsibilities, it is vital to recognise and protect the independence of the prosecuting authority in making such decisions. That independence would be undermined if the DM were to inquire into, or express opinions about, whether particular material ought to be, or ought to have been, disclosed to a particular accused by the prosecution in a trial on indictment.
- 231.Nor should it form part of the functions of the DM to express an opinion on the anterior question of whether, in relation to a particular prosecution on indictment, material which was not disclosed to a particular accused was potentially-disclosable. It requires a subtle mind and a detailed understanding of disclosure obligations to appreciate the difference between material which is potentially-disclosable and material which ought to be disclosed. If the DM were to engage in reviewing whether particular material in a particular case was potentially-disclosable, its conclusion would inevitably be misconstrued as a conclusion that the material ought to have been disclosed. Indeed, if the DM were to express an opinion in a report that particular material in a particular case which was potentially-disclosable had not been disclosed, it is likely that it would be taken as suggesting that there was reason to doubt that the accused had received a fair trial.

¹⁴² Cf. R v Apostolides (1984) 154 CLR 563, 575-6.

- 232.To do so would go far beyond the proper purpose of a DM: to improve police practices in relation to disclosure and to help restore public confidence in the integrity of those processes.
- 233. For these reasons, in any legislation to establish the DM, it should be made clear the role of the DM does not extend to forming or expressing a view about whether particular material in a particular case was disclosable or potentially-disclosable.
- 234. To preserve the independence of prosecution decision-making, it should also be made clear that it is not within the remit of the DM to review or express a view about the correctness of DPP disclosure decisions.

7.4 Components of DM regime

7.4.1 Organisational structure

- 235.Like the Public Interest Monitor (**PIM**) that was set up to oversee the *Major Crimes Investigative Powers Act 2006* (Vic), the DM should be a body created by statute with the necessary powers to conduct its own affairs. To ensure its independence, it should not be part of, or report to, the DPP or Victoria Police. Nor should the DM, or its staff, hold positions with the OPP or Victoria Police. ¹⁴³
- 236. The DM should have all necessary powers to conduct its reviews. This means that it should have access to all police records and should be given necessary powers to interview relevant members of Victoria Police, as well as summon all material it wishes to review. In cases involving human sources, this would include full access to relevant information relating to those sources. The DM and Victoria Police will need to enter into requisite arrangements or agreements to ensure the security of such information disclosed to the DM.

7.4.2 Conduct of reviews

- 237. The DM's reviews should occur on an ongoing basis.
- 238. The identification of matters for review and the appropriate methodology for reviews should be generally be a matter for the discretion of the DM. It would be proper for the DM to consult with interested persons or bodies in making these decisions. Such persons or bodies might include courts, the DPP, the Chief Commissioner of Police, IBAC, the Victorian Bar, the Law Institute and Victoria Legal Aid.

¹⁴³ This rule is consistent with the requirements that set up the PIM, see s 8 of the *Public Interest Monitor Act 2011* (Vic).

- 239. Given that the focus of the DM's consideration would be systemic review rather than case-specific review, it is envisaged that cases would be included in a review only once they had been completed: by that stage, all the issues have emerged and the DM would have the benefit of some hindsight.
- 240.It should be stressed that the DM's role would not affect the decision-making power of Victoria Police. A review would not affect a disclosure decision made in a particular case.
- 241.If the conduct of a review led police to believe that the existence of potentially-disclosable material had been overlooked, they would need to take appropriate action in accordance with their ongoing obligations of disclosure, just as they would if relevant information came to light in the course of another investigation or in some other way.

7.4.3 Reporting

- 242. It is envisaged that the DM would report publicly on the outcomes of its reviews. The DPP submits that the DM should report to Parliament, as do the PIM and the Auditor-General. Reports should be provided at least annually.
- 243.A public report would promote greater accountability and transparency in an otherwise opaque area of police practice. It would also allow the community to assess whether police are giving effect to reforms of disclosure requirements, including any which are recommended by this Royal Commission.
- 244. The DM could also report on progress by Victoria Police in addressing any issues raised by the DM.
- 245. Consistently with the objective of improving systemic compliance, it is envisaged that in a report by the DM, any references to disclosure practices in particular cases would be deidentified and data would be presented in aggregate form.¹⁴⁴
- 246.Reports by the DM would be expected to address overall compliance by police with disclosure requirements, identify specific areas for improvement and suggest changes to police practices, procedures and guidelines as appropriate. Individual police members would not be named or referred to in an identifiable way in relation to disclosure practices, nor would identifying information be published about particular cases.

¹⁴⁴ Compare HMCPSI and HMIC, Making It Fair: A Joint Inspection of the Disclosure of Unused Material in Volume Crown Court Cases (July 2017).

61

247. Consistently with the provisions for other audit and review bodies, a document that formed part of a review by the DM would be an exempt document under Part IV of the *Freedom of Information Act 1982*.

7.4.4 Training role

248.In addition to its auditing role, the Director submits that the DM should be involved in the training of Victoria Police in properly identifying PII claims and in complying with the certification process outlined in these submissions. The provision of training to Victoria Police complements the auditing role of the DM, and ensures that Victoria Police understand what is required by the certification process. Moreover, it provides important information to the DM about how Victoria Police goes about its role in identifying and disclosing material.

8 Resolving PII and non-disclosure obligations

8.1 The current process

- 249. As has been noted above, it is well-established that it is not open to investigators to make a unilateral decision to withhold relevant material, or to fail to disclose its existence, merely because the investigator considers it to be privileged or immune from disclosure. 145
- 250.If a claim of PII is asserted it remains the duty of the court, not the privilege of the executive, to determine whether evidential material should be produced or may be withheld in the public interest. 146
- 251. Where it is considered that relevant material is privileged or subject to PII, or where its disclosure is considered to be prohibited by statute, the usual practice in Victoria in trials on indictment is to disclose to the defence the existence of the material (if this can be done without revealing its confidential content), while making clear that it is considered that the material is not to be disclosed because it is privileged or subject to PII or for some other reason. The claim may then be tested by the defence, if they choose to do so, by issuing a subpoena for the production of the material, ¹⁴⁷ directed to the police or other investigative agency which holds the material.
- 252.On the return of the subpoena the basis for the privilege or immunity is almost always put by the relevant investigative agency. ¹⁴⁸ A confidential affidavit may be submitted by the agency making the claim. ¹⁴⁹ Oral evidence may be given, in camera if necessary. The court may examine the material for itself in determining the claim. The DPP usually plays no part in the determination of the claim for privilege or immunity (although it might be involved to the extent that it is necessary for the court to understand how the prosecution case is put). ¹⁵⁰ The detachment of the DPP is desirable because the interests of the DPP and of the agency making the claim may conflict, ¹⁵¹ and in order to ensure that the independence of the DPP as prosecutor is properly maintained. To this end, it is often preferable that the DPP not be made aware of the content of the material or information which is the subject of the claim. ¹⁵²

¹⁴⁵ See R v Solomon (2005) 92 SASR 331, [116]; R v Andrews (2010) 107 SASR 471; R v Lipton (2011) 82 NSWLR 123, [110]-[111].

¹⁴⁶ Sankey v Whitlam (1978) 142 CLR 1, 38, 58-9, 95-6.

¹⁴⁷ In relation to committal proceedings, subpoenas are normally issued by and returnable in the Magistrates' Court. Post-committal, they are normally issued by and returnable in the trial court.

¹⁴⁸ An exception might arise if a third party claims privilege, such as client legal privilege, over the material. In that case, that party may have the carriage of the privilege claim.

¹⁴⁹ See R v Mokbel (Ruling No.1) [2005] VSC 410, [19]-[29] and the authorities cited there.

¹⁵⁰ See the Director's Policy, set out at [54] above.

¹⁵¹ R v Salmat Document Solutions Pty Ltd [2005] WASC 232, [26].

¹⁵² Indeed some information must be quarantined from a prosecutor: Gould v DPP (Cth) [2018] NSWCCA 109, [16]; Strickland (a pseudonym) v DPP (Cth) [2018] HCA 53.

- 253. The CPA provides a statutory basis for a similar procedure in summary hearings¹⁵³ and in committal proceedings, ¹⁵⁴ by which the accused may seek to test a claim that material is subject to privilege or immunity from disclosure (without issuing a subpoena).
- 254.In England it has been accepted that, if necessary, an *ex parte* application may be made to a court by the Crown to determine a claim of privilege or immunity, if advising the defence of the existence and general nature of the material and of the asserted right to withhold the material would reveal its confidential contents. Dicta in some Australian authorities countenance the possibility that an *ex parte* application may be made in similar circumstances in Australia, but it cannot be said that there is any clear authority for the practice. The CPA makes no provision for any such application.

8.2 The need for a statutory procedure for resolving issues of immunity and privilege

- 255. The current position in Victoria in relation to procedures for resolving disclosure issues is unsatisfactory for a number of reasons.
- 256. First, there should be a clear process for investigating agencies or the prosecution to initiate a court determination of PII, privilege and disclosure issues. The statutory processes under the CPA and the subpoena process are initiated as defence challenges to a claim for immunity. It should be possible for the prosecution or an investigating agency to initiate the determination of a question whether material is subject to PII, privilege or some statutory prohibition on disclosure. Material relating to human sources is a prime example of a situation where it is important for an investigating agency to be able to actively obtain early guidance from the courts.
- 257. Second, there should be a clear power for the prosecution to make an *ex parte* application for the resolution of disclosure issues, where giving notice of the application would create a risk of disclosing the material in question. Sometimes revelation of the mere fact that information is held would allow an accused person to infer what that information is or where it came from. For example, even an apparently bland reference to a diary entry made by a

¹⁵³ CPA, ss.43-46.

¹⁵⁴ CPA, ss.119(e), 122.

¹⁵⁵ R v Davis [1993] 2 All ER 643, 647.

¹⁵⁶ R v Andrews (2010) 107 SASR 471, [25]; R v Reardon (No 2) (2004) 60 NSWLR 454, [47]; R v Lipton (2011) 82 NSWLR 123, [89]-[91]; AB v CD and EF [2017] VSCA 338, [65].

¹⁵⁷ It should be noted that the proceedings before Ginnane J in the Supreme Court were *inter partes* actions (albeit without notice to the convicted persons). In *AB and EF v CD* [2017] VSC 350, the Chief Commissioner of Victoria Police and Ms Gobbo brought proceedings against the DPP seeking declarations. In *EF v CD* [2017] VSC 351, Ms Gobbo brought an action to restrain what was claimed to be a breach of an equitable duty of confidence. Neither is authority for the availability of an *ex parte* application by the DPP.

- particular police officer on a particular day could, in conjunction with other matters that the accused knows, tend to confirm a suspicion by the accused that a particular associate has provided information to police.
- 258. These shortcomings are significant. The existence of a flexible and effective procedure by which disclosure issues can be resolved, *ex parte* if necessary, would provide a valuable safeguard in relation to the disclosure of sensitive material generally, and of human source material in particular.

8.3 The Western Australian model

- 259.Western Australia's *Criminal Procedure Act 2004* (WA) contains a statutory procedure for the resolution of disclosure issues by the courts. As will be seen, the Western Australian provision is a useful base from which to build a Victorian statutory procedure, although in the DPP's submission some aspects of the Western Australian model need to be modified to suit the Victorian context.
- 260. This section summarises how the Western Australian procedure works in practice and describes its advantages. The next section discusses additional or amended features that would be beneficial in Victoria.

8.3.1 Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA), s.138

261. The disclosure regime under the *Criminal Procedure Act 2004* (WA) is described above (see "4.4.2 Western Australia"). In summary, s.138 of the Act permits a court, either on its own initiative or on the application of a party, to dispense with all or part of a disclosure requirement under the Act, to shorten or extend the time for obeying the requirement, to amend or cancel a previous order, or to make an order as to any other matter that the court considers is just.

262. Section 138 is in the following terms:

- 138. Disclosure requirements, orders as to
- (1) In this section, unless the contrary intention appears disclosure requirement means a requirement under section 35, 42, 61, 62, 95 or 96 to disclose material, other than a requirement under section 62(4)(a) or 96(3)(a).
- (2) The powers in this section may be exercised by a court on its own initiative or on an application by a party to a case.
- (3) A court may, in respect of a disclosure requirement, make an order
 - (a) that dispenses with all or part of the requirement, if it is satisfied —

- (i) there is a good reason to do so; and
- (ii) no miscarriage of justice will result;

or

- (b) that shortens or extends the time for obeying the requirement; or
- (c) that amends or cancels an order made previously under this section, whether by the court or some other court; or
- (d) as to any other matter that the court considers is just.
- (4) An application for an order under this section may be made by a prosecutor without notice to the accused and may be dealt with in the absence of the accused.
- (4a) Despite section 171, an application by a prosecutor for an order under this section that is made without notice to the accused must not be dealt with in open court and the only people who may be present when it is dealt with are the applicant and those permitted by the court.
- (5) If an order is made under this section in the absence of an accused, the order must not be given or disclosed to the accused without the permission of the court that made it or, if it was made by a court of summary jurisdiction and the accused is committed for trial or sentence to a superior court, of the superior court.
- 263. Section 138 contemplates that an application is made to the court in which the proceeding is on foot. At committal stage, the relevant prosecutor (usually the police informant) makes an application to the Magistrates' Court. Non-disclosure orders made by the Magistrates' Court contain a 'sunset clause' that provide that the order will expire 42 days after the committal. Once the accused has been committed for trial in a superior court, the Magistrates' Court is required to provide the superior court and the ODPP with a copy of any s.138 order it has made. The ODPP then considers whether to apply for a fresh non-disclosure order in the superior court.

8.3.2 Advantages of the WA procedure

264. The Western Australian provision has a number of advantages:

It allows for an application to be made by a party to a proceeding at any time. So, for example, an application could be made before service of a hand-up brief.

It allows for the court to make orders on its own initiative. This could occur if, for example, the court considered it desirable for more effective case management.

It allows for an application to be made by the prosecutor without notice to the accused and to be dealt with in the absence of the accused and in closed court. These provisions would allow for a determination where notice to the accused would risk exposure of the contents of sensitive material.

¹⁵⁸ Criminal Procedure Act 2004 (WA) s.44(2).

It allows for a wide range of orders in relation to disclosure requirements: for example, the court may dispense with or defer an obligation or make any other order that it considers just.

The power to make any other order allows a court to tailor the disclosure obligation to the particular circumstances of the case. For example, disclosure could be made with appropriate redaction, or by way of a summary.

8.4 A Victorian statutory procedure

265.In the DPP's submission, there are a number of features of the Western Australian provision that need to be adapted for the Victorian context. This section discusses those features before concluding with a model legislative provision for Victoria.

8.4.1 Which court?

266.In Western Australia the application is made to the court in which the proceeding is on foot. If this were to be applied in Victoria, it would mean that up to the point of committal, applications would need to be made to the Magistrates' Court. This has some advantages. It avoids the unnecessary fragmentation of the proceeding and the running of parallel hearings relating to the same prosecution in different courts. However, the determination of claims of PII, privilege and statutory prohibitions on disclosure can involve complex factual and legal questions. The determination of PII claims requires the court to engage in a nuanced balancing exercise and, often, the examination of the documents in question. The determination of whether a statutory provision prohibits disclosure may require the court to consider novel questions of statutory interpretation. There will therefore be cases where, in the DPP's view, it would not be appropriate for the Magistrates' Court to be determining applications for dispensation from disclosure requirements.

267. Consequently, the DPP submits that a Victorian statutory procedure should make provision for applications to be made to the Supreme Court or the County Court while a matter is before a court of summary jurisdiction (whether for summary hearing or in a committal proceeding). ¹⁶⁰

¹⁵⁹ Ahmet v Chief Commissioner of Police [2014] VSCA 265, [32].

¹⁶⁰ The discussion in this section is based on the current committal procedure in Victoria. Under the DPP's proposed committal reforms, cases in which charges are in dispute and where complicated issues of public interest immunity arise will be placed on a 'fast track' pathway, resulting in the charges being transferred directly to a trial court: see Director of Public Prosecutions (Vic), *Proposed Reforms to Reduce Further Trauma to Victims and Witnesses* (Policy Paper, 1 October 2018) (published at http://www.opp.vic.gov.au/Home/Resources/1-October-2018-Director-s-Policy-Paper) 3.

268.Examples of where an application to the Supreme Court or the County Court would be more appropriate are:

where the question could have a significant bearing not only in relation to the instant case but also in relation to other cases;

where (as in the proceedings before Ginnane J) complex balancing of large questions of public policy may be involved or where lives may be at risk if material is disclosed; or

where the disclosure question relates to a matter that could only be determined by, or would be more appropriate for determination by, the trial court rather than in a committal hearing (e.g. disclosure which is relevant to a collateral challenge to the validity of a warrant, ¹⁶¹ to an application for the discretionary exclusion of evidence or to an application for a permanent stay).

269. An application to the County Court should not be available if it relates to a charge which would not be triable on indictment in that Court.

8.4.2 **Duration of Magistrates' Court orders**

270.Because of the complexity of disclosure issues and the potentially significant consequences of a non-disclosure order, it would be undesirable for the Magistrates' Court to make indefinite non-disclosure orders. In Western Australia, this concern is addressed by the practice of including a 'sunset clause' in all non-disclosure orders made by the Magistrates' Court, so that the orders expire 42 days after the committal. In the DPP's submission, a similar practice in Victoria would be problematic. A rigid time frame for the expiry of Magistrates' Court non-disclosure orders would not be workable. It would mean that an application to the trial court for an ongoing non-disclosure order would need to be made and determined fairly urgently after committal, at a time when neither the prosecution nor the trial court may have had time to fully consider the issues raised by the application. This would result in significant and unwarranted pressures on both the prosecution and the courts. It could lead to inefficient practices, such as the making of interim non-disclosure orders while the application is adjourned to give the applicant time to adequately prepare — adding an extra process or hearing to an already busy procedural timetable.

271.At the same time, it is important that any legislative provision includes a mechanism for a trial court to actively review a non-disclosure order made by the Magistrates' Court. In the DPP's submission, the preferable way of achieving this is by:

¹⁶¹ Cf. Gould v DPP (Cth) [2018] NSWCCA 109.

providing that upon an accused's committal for trial, a non-disclosure order made by the Magistrates' Court is deemed to have been made by the trial court, after which no further applications regarding the order can be made to the Magistrates' Court; and

requiring the trial court to either vary, confirm or set aside an existing non-disclosure order prior to the commencement of the trial.

272. The above procedure ensures that any ongoing non-disclosure order is one that has been made by a trial court fully apprised of the relevant issues, while avoiding the procedural and practical burdens associated with imposing rigid deadlines for the trial court's consideration of the need for an ongoing non-disclosure order.

8.4.3 Parties to an application

- 273.Under s.138 of the WA Act, an application may be made by "a party to a case". If the proceedings are in the Magistrates' Court (whether a summary hearing or a committal proceeding), that would ordinarily mean the informant and not the DPP. 162 This aspect of the WA Act should be replicated in Victoria; that includes the requirement in WA for the police and the Magistrates' Court to provide the DPP with a copy of any non-disclosure order upon committal, so that the DPP is fully apprised of the relevant issues when taking over the prosecution.
- 274. In proceedings on indictment, the DPP would be regarded as the relevant party. However, in most cases the DPP will not be best placed to argue PII or other privilege/immunity claims in respect of relevant material held by an investigating agency. The Victorian regime for non-disclosure orders should therefore provide that in proceedings on indictment, the relevant investigating agency, such as Victoria Police, is also able to bring an application for relevant orders. As would be the case for orders made in the summary jurisdiction, if an application is made *ex parte* by the investigating agency, there should be provision for the DPP to be provided with a copy of any order made so that the DPP can independently assess the impact of the order on the prosecution.

¹⁶² If the DPP were conducting the case under s.22 of the *Public Prosecutions Act 1994*, it could conduct the application on behalf of the informant.

8.4.4 Relevant disclosure obligations

- 275.In s.138(1) of the WA Act, "disclosure requirement" is defined by reference to specified provisions of that Act. No reference is made to common law disclosure obligations, possibly because the Act was intended to codify the relevant obligations. ¹⁶³
- 276.An equivalent provision in Victoria should allow for orders to be made not only in relation to relevant requirements under the CPA, but also in relation to common law requirements. If the procedure were confined to statutory obligations, it would lose much of its effectiveness, especially as disclosure obligations in trials on indictment are substantially left by the CPA to the common law. There is no reason to distinguish between obligations arising under the CPA and obligations arising under common law principles.

8.4.5 Applicable test for making non-disclosure orders

- 277.Under the Western Australian provision, the court in determining whether to dispense with a disclosure requirement must consider whether "there is a good reason to do so" and whether "no miscarriage of justice will result".
- 278.In the DPP's submission, the "no miscarriage of justice" criterion is problematic and should not be replicated in Victorian legislation. Non-disclosure orders will typically be made at an early stage of criminal proceedings, prior to the commencement of the trial. At that stage, it may not be possible for a court to assess whether a miscarriage of justice will result from the non-disclosure of certain relevant material. The notion of miscarriage of justice is more apposite at the appellate level. Further, if a court is confined to dispensing with disclosure requirements on the specified grounds of PII, privilege or statutory prohibition, it is not necessary to apply a miscarriage of justice test. An assessment of whether material is protected by PII itself incorporates a balancing exercise between the public interest in non-disclosure and the public interest in disclosure. Where the claim is made on the basis of another kind of privilege or a statutory prohibition, it is open to a court to stay the prosecution if non-disclosure would mean the accused is unable to obtain a fair trial.
- 279. Consequently, it is the DPP's submission that the general Western Australian criteria for dispensing with disclosure requirements should be replaced with the specific grounds on the basis of which the court may order non-disclosure.

¹⁶³ The question whether the Act abrogated common law obligations remains to be determined: Carney v Western Australia [2010] WASCA 90, [4]; PAH v Western Australia [2015] WASCA 159, [142]; Bozzer v Western Australia [2017] WASCA 226, [84].

8.4.6 Types of orders that can be made

280. As already noted, s.138 allows for a court to make a wide range of orders, including "as to any other matter that the court considers is just". One kind of order which may be covered by this catch-all, but which it would be desirable to expressly list in the Victorian equivalent of the s 138 procedure, is an order for material to be disclosed subject to publication or dissemination restrictions. For example, the court may wish to order that material be made available for inspection by the accused's lawyers only. 164 Such orders can in certain proceedings be the most effective way to balance, on the one hand, the public interest concerns militating against disclosure, and, on the other hand, the accused's right to a fair trial.

281.It is therefore proposed that the Victorian procedure for the determination of disclosure issues should expressly allow the court to make an order "that makes disclosure subject to such conditions that the court thinks fit".

8.4.7 A contradictor in an ex parte application

282. Consideration should also be given to authorising the PIM to act as contradictor in an *ex parte* application made by a law enforcement agency. Such a role would be analogous to its functions in relation to warrants under the *Major Crimes (Investigative Powers) Act 2004* (Vic) and the *Surveillance Devices Act 1999* (Vic). Its powers and functions could reflect those set out in s 3D of the *Major Crimes (Investigative Powers) Act 2004*. These include the right to:

be informed of any ex parte application by a law enforcement agency;

be provided with all relevant material regarding the claim;

appear at any hearing on the application to test the content and sufficiency of the information relied upon by the law enforcement agency;

ask questions of any person giving information in relation to the application;

make submissions to the Court as to the appropriateness of granting the orders sought by the law enforcement agency.

8.4.8 Proposed provision

283. In view of the matters raised above, it is the DPP's submission that a Victorian statutory procedure for the determination of disclosure issues should take the form of a provision along the following lines, to be inserted in the CPA:

¹⁶⁴ See, e.g., R v Mokbel [2005] VSC 410.

Orders as to disclosure requirements

In this section, unless the contrary intention appears —

disclosure requirement means a requirement —

- (a) under section 37, 41, 42, 44, 110, 111 or 185; or
- (b) under the common law,

to disclose material or the existence of material.

- (2) The powers in this section may be exercised by a court on its own initiative or on an application by
 - (a) a party to a case; or
 - (b) a law enforcement authority in possession of material that is subject to a disclosure requirement.
- (3) An application under subsection (2) can be made to—
 - (a) the court in which the proceeding is being heard; or
 - (b) the County Court, if the proceeding relates to a charge triable in the County Court; or
 - (c) the Supreme Court.
- (4) A court may, in respect of a disclosure requirement, make an order
 - (a) that dispenses with all or part of the requirement, if it is satisfied that
 - (i) the requirement relates to material or information that is subject to public interest immunity or common law privilege; or
 - (ii) disclosure is prohibited by statute; or
 - (iii) disclosure is prohibited by an existing court order; or
 - (b) that shortens or extends the time for obeying the requirement; or
 - (c) that makes disclosure subject to such conditions that the court thinks fit; or
 - (d) that confirms, varies or sets aside an order made previously under this section by
 - (i) that court; or
 - (ii) in the case of the County Court, the Magistrates' Court; or
 - (iii) in the case of the Supreme Court, the County Court or the Magistrates' Court; or
 - (e) as to any other matter that the court considers is just.
- (5) An application for an order under this section may be made by the DPP or by a law enforcement authority referred to in paragraph (b) of subsection (2) without notice to the accused and may be dealt with in the absence of the accused.
- (6) If an application for an order under this section is made without notice to the accused, the only persons who may be present when the application is dealt with are the applicant and those permitted by the court.

- (7) If an order is made under this section in the absence of an accused, the order must not be given or disclosed to the accused without the permission of the court that made it or, if it was made by the Magistrates' Court and the accused is committed for trial or sentence to the County Court or Supreme Court, of the County Court or Supreme Court, as the case may be.
- (8) If an order is made under this section in the absence of the DPP, the court that made the order must provide a copy of the order to the DPP as soon as reasonably practicable after the making of the order.
- (9) If an order is made under this section by the Magistrates' Court and the accused is committed for trial or sentence to the County Court or Supreme Court
 - (a) the order made by the Magistrates' Court is deemed to be an order of the County Court or Supreme Court, as the case may be; and
 - (b) no further applications in relation to the order can be made in the Magistrates' Court; and
 - (c) the County Court or Supreme Court, as the case may be, must confirm, vary or set aside the order at least 14 days prior to the commencement of the trial.
- 284. This draft provision (in particular subsection (6)) would need to be amended if the PIM were to be empowered to act as a contradictor in *ex parte* applications made by law enforcement agencies under this section (see "8.4.7 A contradictor in an *ex parte* application").
- 285.In addition to the insertion of a provision in the above form, s.146 of the CPA should be amended to include in the list of documents to be provided to the DPP upon committal any non-disclosure order made by the Magistrates' Court.

9 Sentencing of co-offender or prosecution witness where relevant assistance provided

- 286.Earlier in this paper ("6.2.3 Sentence reductions or other benefits for assistance to authorities"), it was observed that if a person has been given a sentence reduction for assistance to authorities, that may be a matter subject to disclosure obligations, for example because that person will be a prosecution witness in another matter and the fact of assistance/sentence reduction is relevant to the assessment of the person's credibility or reliability.
- 287. Complying with those disclosure obligations can, however, be complicated. In particular, reasons for sentence may not refer to the fact of assistance. Reasons for sentence that do refer to assistance may be restricted and not publicly available. Such matters mean that a police informant or the prosecution may not readily be able to discharge their disclosure obligations by, for example, providing an accused with the sentencing reasons relating to the relevant prosecution witness.
- 288. This section of the paper proposes a legislative amendment to assist with these difficulties: the introduction of a provision requiring a court that reduces an offender's sentence because of assistance to authorities to state that fact in publicly-available sentencing reasons.

289.In overview, this section:

- considers the current position on this issue in Victoria, and some of the difficulties it causes;
- 2. outlines the position taken in some other Australian jurisdictions;
- 3. proposes a new legislative provision to ensure that Victorian courts refer to the fact of assistance in publicly available sentencing reasons (subject to certain exceptions);
- 4. addresses concerns that may be raised about such a provision; and
- 5. makes some observations about residual issues regarding disclosure.

9.1 The law in Victoria

290. Section 5(2AB) of the Sentencing Act provides that if a court imposes a less severe sentence on an offender because of an undertaking given by the offender to provide assistance, after sentencing, to law enforcement authorities, the court "must announce that it is doing so and cause to be noted in the records of the court the fact that the undertaking was given and its

- details". The court is not required to state the sentence that it would have imposed but for the undertaking: s 5(2AC).
- 291. There is no equivalent provision for other situations where the court imposes a less severe sentence because of assistance provided by the offender to law enforcement authorities for example, where the offender has already provided assistance to authorities and has received a "letter of comfort" or "letter of assistance" from authorities.
- 292. Although there is no statutory requirement in Victoria for a sentencing court to state that it has taken into account such assistance as a mitigating factor, a failure to include such a statement in the reasons for sentence may lead an appellate court to infer that the assistance was overlooked or given insufficient weight.
- 293.In *Haamid*,¹⁶⁵ the Court of Appeal considered how sentencing courts should balance "the need to be transparent and accountable by publishing sentencing remarks that accurately explain how the judge arrived at the sentence, and the need to avoid compromising the offender's safety and the efficacy of ongoing criminal investigations."¹⁶⁶ The Court noted three ways in which sentencing courts in Victoria have sought to do so:
 - 1. Sentencing remarks that fully explain how the cooperation informed the exercise of the sentencing discretion, but are restricted and not published beyond the parties.
 - 2. Sentencing remarks that are silent in relation to cooperation and made publicly available.
 - 3. Sentencing remarks that make a veiled reference to cooperation and are made publicly available.

The Court observed that the interests of justice will often be best served by the adoption of a fourth option: the preparation of two versions of the sentencing remarks. One version would take the first form and the other may take the second or third form or a variation of them, such as an edited version of the first form. The existence of the restricted version would mean that the parties and, on appeal, the Court of Appeal, are able to assess the appropriateness of the consideration that the sentencing judge gave to the offender's cooperation.

294.Accordingly, the Court considered, "unless there are particular features in a given case which necessitate the adoption of a different course, sentencing judges should adopt the fourth option where a discount on sentence is sought on a plea due to the offender's

¹⁶⁵ Haamid (a pseudonym) v R [2018] VSCA 330, [34]-[40].

¹⁶⁶ Haamid (a pseudonym) v R [2018] VSCA 330, [34].

- cooperation. Where appropriate, a pseudonym may be used for both versions of the sentencing remarks." ¹⁶⁷
- 295. The Court in *Haamid* did not refer to the implications of adopting the various courses where the details of the sentencing judge's reasoning may be relevant to an accused person in another case (for example, where the sentenced person is a witness in a related case or where the sentence may be relevant to questions of parity). Nor did the Court refer to the way restrictions on publication may affect the ability of the prosecution to explain to victims and their families the basis for a particular sentence.
- 296. The current position in Victoria is problematic. The decision in *Haamid*, while ensuring that a *restricted* version of sentencing remarks will discuss an offender's cooperation and its role in sentencing, countenances the continued practice of not referring to, or only making a cryptic reference to, the fact of cooperation in the publicly-available sentencing reasons. A police informant or prosecutor in another criminal matter where the offender's cooperation might be relevant and therefore disclosable is not able to provide the restricted version of the sentencing remarks to the accused in that other matter without the original sentencing court's imprimatur. If the public version of the sentencing remarks does not refer to the fact of cooperation, then provision of those public sentencing remarks to the accused in the other prosecution may not be sufficient to fulfil the prosecution's disclosure obligations. Indeed, they may be misleading.
- 297.In the absence of public sentencing remarks that refer to the fact of cooperation or assistance, there may be nothing to lead an accused to a line of inquiry which is relevant to the proceeding. In contrast, if the informant or prosecutor is able to provide to the accused unrestricted sentencing remarks that refer to the fact of cooperation or assistance, the accused will be alerted to that issue. This would enable the accused to apply (on notice to the DPP) to the original sentencing court for access to the restricted version of the sentencing remarks.¹⁶⁸

9.2 The law in other Australian jurisdictions

298. Some Australian jurisdictions have legislative provisions that require courts to state that they are reducing an offender's sentence for past as well as future cooperation.

¹⁶⁷ Haamid (a pseudonym) v R [2018] VSCA 330, [39]. 168 AB v R [2013] VSCA 8, [12].

76

9.2.1 New South Wales

299.In New South Wales, s 23(4) of the *Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Act 1999* (NSW) provides:

A court that imposes a lesser penalty under this section on an offender because the offender has assisted, or undertaken to assist, law enforcement authorities must:

- (a) indicate to the offender, and make a record of the fact, that the lesser penalty is being imposed for either or both of those reasons, and
- (b) state the penalty that it would otherwise have imposed, and
- (c) where the lesser penalty is being imposed for both reasons—state the amount by which the penalty has been reduced for each reason.
- 300. The failure of a sentencing judge to refer to any discount for assistance or to s.23, may constitute either of two (related) errors: (a) it may be a breach of the sentencing judge's obligation to give proper reasons; ¹⁶⁹ and (b) it might be inferred that no discount was provided for the assistance. ¹⁷⁰
- 301. The requirement in s.23(4)(a) to record that a lesser penalty has been imposed because the offender has assisted, or undertaken to assist, law enforcement authorities does not require a detailed evaluation of the assistance or of the weight to be given to it in sentencing. ¹⁷¹ For example, in *Greentree*, ¹⁷² the sentencing judge had referred to the offender's assistance in the following manner:

Exhibit 3 [a confidential exhibit] is a document containing material that falls within s 23 of the Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Act. That document records that he has provided certain information which has led to certain actions with success occurring. I do not propose to discuss the document in any detail given its nature but it is a document that I have taken fully into consideration in the [applicant's] favour.

Exhibit 4 [also a confidential exhibit], in my view, contains some information of actions by the [applicant] which also fall within s 23 of the Crimes (Sentence Procedure) Act. I have had regard to the Crown's submissions in relation to that document and the lack of evidence as to where the items referred to in it were obtained from in assessing what weight I give to it. In light of the timing of the plea of guilty and the matters that fall within s 23 of the Crimes (Sentencing Procedure) Act, I propose to allow a combined discount of 30%.

¹⁶⁹ Greentree v R [2018] NSWCCA 227, [54].

¹⁷⁰ Hughes v R [2013] NSWCCA 129.

¹⁷¹ Greentree v R [2018] NSWCCA 227, [55]-[57].

¹⁷² Greentree v R [2018] NSWCCA 227.

On an appeal against sentence, the NSW Court of Criminal Appeal held that the judge had sufficiently complied with the requirements of s.23 and had given proper reasons for sentence. Beech-Jones J (with whom Hoeben CJ at CL and McCallum J agreed) said: 173

[T]he purpose and object of the statutory provision governs what is required of the sentencing judge. Section 23 is addressed to assistance provided by offenders to law enforcement authorities ... In some, perhaps many, cases if knowledge of the fact or detail of that assistance is revealed then the offender or his family may be put at risk and the benefits that the law enforcement authorities might otherwise obtain from that assistance may be undermined or even destroyed.

Thus, in some cases for the sentencing judge to embark upon a detailed exposition in a sentencing judgment of the factors in s 23(2) may defeat the very purpose of the statutory provision. In such cases as this there is an obvious tension between the achievement of the objectives of s 23 and the sentencing judge's obligation to provide reasons in open court. In this case, the sentencing judge was clearly conscious of this tension. ... Any further discussion would have defeated the very point of keeping the material confidential.

- ... Generally, where confidential material of this kind is tendered before a sentencing judge, very careful consideration will need to be given before it can be concluded that a sentencing judge either failed to address the factors in s 23(2) or failed to provide proper reasons.
- 302. As the decision in *Greentree* shows, the requirements of s.23 are not inconsistent with the long-standing practice by which sentencing courts receive confidential documents setting out the assistance provided. 174
- 303. The general practice in New South Wales is that if a sentencing court imposes a lesser penalty because the offender has assisted, or undertaken to assist, authorities, that fact is referred to in publicly available sentencing reasons (although more detail may be provided in additional confidential reasons if necessary).
- 304.Under s.6 of the *Court Suppression and Non-publication Orders Act 2010* (NSW), in deciding whether to make a suppression order or non-publication order (including an order for the use of a pseudonym), the court must take into account that "a primary objective of the administration of justice is to safeguard the public interest in open justice". The legislative intention is that such an order should only be made in exceptional circumstances. ¹⁷⁵
- 305. The grounds upon which such an order may be made are set out in s.8 of the Act. One ground is that the order is necessary to protect the safety of a person. If an order is sought on

¹⁷³ Greentree v R [2018] NSWCCA 227, [55]-[57].

¹⁷⁴ See also Brown (a pseudonym) v R [2019] NSWCCA 69, [32].

¹⁷⁵ Rinehart v Welker (2011) 93 NSWLR 311, [27]. As to the applicable principles governing the making of such orders, see Brown (a pseudonym) v R [2019] NSWCCA 69.

this basis, a "calculus of risk" must be undertaken. ¹⁷⁶ That is, the court must consider the nature, imminence and degree of likelihood of harm occurring to the relevant person. If the prospective harm is very severe, it may be more readily concluded that the order is necessary even if the risk does not rise beyond a mere possibility.

306.In *Brown*,¹⁷⁷ the Court referred to *Greentree* as an illustration of how the issue of assistance may be addressed without the use of a pseudonym or other redactions.

9.2.2 Western Australia

307. Section 8 of the Sentencing Act 1995 (WA), relevantly provides:

(1) Mitigating factors are factors which, in the court's opinion, decrease the culpability of the offender or decrease the extent to which the offender should be punished.

...

- (4) If because of a mitigating factor a court reduces the sentence it would otherwise have imposed on an offender, the court must state that fact in open court.
- (5) If because an offender undertakes to assist law enforcement authorities a court reduces the sentence it would otherwise have imposed on the offender, the court must state that fact and the extent of the reduction in open court.
- 308.Section 8(3) expressly requires a court to state the fact of future cooperation in open court. While there is no equivalent express provision for past cooperation, past cooperation is a mitigating factor under s 8(1).¹⁷⁸ Therefore, a sentencing court taking past cooperation into account is required by s 8(4) to state that fact in open court.

9.3 Proposed amendments

- 309. The DPP submits that the *Sentencing Act 1991* should be amended to require a sentencing court to state in public, unrestricted reasons that it has taken into account an offender's past or future assistance. The requirement would be to refer to the *mere fact* of assistance, and not the details of that assistance, which can be left to the restricted version of the sentencing reasons.
- 310. Such an amendment could be made subject to a specific exception, where the court is satisfied that even a mere reference to the fact of assistance would seriously endanger the safety of the offender or their family and that risk could not be sufficiently ameliorated by

¹⁷⁶ AB (A Pseudonym) v R (No 3) [2019] NSWCCA 46, [56]-[60].

¹⁷⁷ Brown (a pseudonym) v R [2019] NSWCCA 69, [34].

¹⁷⁸ Nannup v State of Western Australia [2011] WASCA 257, [60]-[64].

the making of an order under the *Open Courts Act 2013*, an order under any other statute restricting the disclosure of information, or a pseudonym or broad suppression order in the exercise of the court's inherent jurisdiction.¹⁷⁹

- 311.For example, section 5 of the *Sentencing Act 1991* could be amended to include the following additions (underlined):
 - (2AB) If, in sentencing an offender, a court imposes a less severe sentence than it would otherwise have imposed because of an undertaking given by the offender to assist, after sentencing, law enforcement authorities in the investigation or prosecution of an offence, the court must announce that it is doing so and cause to be noted in the records of the court the fact that the undertaking was given and its details.
 - (2AC) If, in sentencing an offender, a court imposes a less severe sentence than it would otherwise have imposed because of assistance provided by the offender to law enforcement authorities in the investigation or prosecution of an offence, the court must announce that it is doing so and cause to be noted in the records of the court the fact that assistance was provided and its details.
 - (2AD) If subsection (2AB) or (2AC) applies, the court must refer to the applicable provision in the unrestricted version of the sentencing reasons, unless the court is satisfied that—
 - (a) to do so would seriously endanger the safety of the offender or another person; and
 - (b) the risk to safety could not be sufficiently ameliorated by the making of—
 - (i) an order under the Open Courts Act 2013;
 - (ii) an order under any other statute that confers power on the

 court to prohibit or restrict the publication or other

 disclosure of information; or
 - (iii) a pseudonym order; or

¹⁷⁹ See Open Courts Act 2013 ss 5(1), 7(1)(d).

- (iv) an order made in the exercise of the court's inherent jurisdiction that prohibits or restricts the publication or other disclosure of information in connection with any proceeding.
- (2AE) Nothing in subsection (2AB) <u>or (2AC)</u> requires a court to state the sentence that it would have imposed but for the undertaking that was given <u>or the</u> assistance that was provided, as the case may be.
- 312. The specific exception in proposed s.5(2AD) would be in addition to the powers of the court to restrict publication, such as the powers of the Supreme Court in its inherent jurisdiction or powers to make suppression orders and closed court orders under the *Open Courts Act 2013*. These powers could be used where, for example, the court was satisfied that non-publication was necessary for a limited period in order to avoid jeopardising a current investigation by law enforcement authorities.

9.4 Why the amendments are necessary

- 313. The decision of the Court of Appeal in *Haamid* has highlighted the wide variation in the practices adopted by different judges in Victoria in imposing sentences when the offender has provided, or undertaken to provide, assistance to authorities. Some sentencing reasons deal with the issue of assistance comprehensively in publicly available reasons. Others do so in a de-identified way (e.g. by the use of pseudonyms). Others refer only in very cryptic terms, or not at all, to the fact of assistance in unrestricted sentencing reasons. In many cases, it is not apparent why the sentencing judge has deal with the issue in one way rather than another. In the experience of the DPP, the adoption of more restrictive practices is not necessarily commensurate with the degree of risk to the particular offender.
- 314. Such variation in practice is itself undesirable. It is not apparent that like cases are being treated alike. Courts are not applying a common test in determining whether, and if so in what manner, the fact of assistance should be publicly recorded.
- 315. The approach of courts in NSW in relation to recording the fact of assistance is more principled. The starting point is that the fact of assistance (including promised future assistance) should be noted in publicly-available reasons in which the identity of the offender is not concealed. Suppression or non-publication of the fact of assistance or the identity of the offender is the exception. A decision to suppress publication of the fact of assistance or to de-identify the offender must be made in accordance with the *Court Suppression and Non-publication Orders Act 2010* (NSW). That Act (like the *Open Courts Act 2013* (Victoria))

- reinforces the general principle of open justice and specifies limited exceptions. Such an approach not only produces greater transparency but also greater consistency in practice.
- 316. There are good reasons why, in the absence of compelling and exceptional circumstances which would justify restriction, the fact of assistance (including promised future assistance) should be noted in publicly-available sentencing reasons, in addition to the general desirability of transparency in sentencing.
- 317.First, it promotes consistency in sentencing. Consistency is an aspect of the principle of equal justice. 180 The requirement in s.5(2)(b) of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) for the sentencing court to consider current sentencing practices is "a statutory expression of the concern that a reasonable consistency in sentencing should be maintained as an aspect of the rule of law". 181 In order to consider current sentencing practices and to ensure consistency in the application of principles, it is necessary for sentencing courts to consider similarities and differences between the instant case and other comparable cases. This requires consideration of the relevant factors which were taken into account in those other cases. Failure of a court to refer to a significant factor, such as assistance to authorities, distorts such comparisons particularly if there are relatively few comparable cases. The distorting effect may be considerable, as assistance is often the basis for affording considerable leniency. The distorting effect which results from the absence of reference to assistance in sentencing reasons not only affects courts but also legal practitioners in advising their clients about likely sentences. A general practice of referring to assistance as a factor in sentencing would reduce these distorting effects.
- 318.Second, references in sentencing reasons to assistance as a mitigating factor assists practitioners and courts in relation to the application of principles of parity and equal justice in the sentencing of co-offenders.
- 319. Third, references to assistance are often necessary to explain the exercise of a sentencing discretion which is reserved for special or exceptional circumstances. Various provisions of the *Sentencing Act 1991* require a mandatory sentence, mandatory minimum sentence or mandatory cumulation of sentences unless a special reason exists or unless there are exceptional circumstances. For example, if an offender is sentenced for a specified offence against an emergency worker on duty, the court must impose a custodial sentence and must fix a non-parole period of a specified minimum length unless the court finds that a "special reason" exists (s.10AA). A special reason may include assistance that the offender has given

¹⁸⁰ Wong v R (2001) 207 CLR 584, [6]-[7].

¹⁸¹ DPP v Dalgliesh (a pseudonym) (2017) 262 CLR 428, [50].

- or undertaken to give to law enforcement authorities in the investigation or prosecution of an offence (s.10A(2)(a)). Unless the court refers to such assistance in publicly-available sentencing reasons, there may be no apparent explanation for the exercise of such a discretion. This tends to undermine public confidence in the administration of justice.
- 320. Fourth, if a sentencing court refers to assistance given by the offender to authorities as a reason for a reduced sentence, it helps victims and their families to understand the reasons for the apparent leniency of a sentence.
- 321. Fifth, where the fact that a sentence reduction was given for assistance may be relevant in other proceedings, transparent sentencing reasons provide a means by which the prosecution can fulfil disclosure obligations and reduce the risk of a miscarriage of justice.

9.5 Likely impact of proposed provision

322.Two concerns commonly expressed about the implications of referring in published sentencing reasons to assistance to authorities should be addressed.

9.5.1 Would the changes deter offenders from providing assistance?

- 323. The first concern is that the requirement to refer to the fact of assistance in public reasons may discourage offenders from providing assistance to law enforcement authorities. Would offenders be fearful of the consequences of public disclosure of their assistance to authorities, and thus decide not to provide assistance or undertake to assist? In other words, would sources dry up?
- 324.In the DPP's submission, this concern is not borne out by the experience in NSW, where sentencing remarks do refer to the fact of assistance but where investigating agencies have not reported a significant reduction in the amount of assistance provided. Further, it should be noted that the proposal is for the sentencing court to refer publicly only to the *fact* of assistance; there is no requirement to disclose the *details* of that assistance. Finally, this concern would be significantly ameliorated by a provision (as suggested above) allowing the court to depart from the requirement of publicly referring to the fact of assistance in certain circumstances.

9.5.2 Would the changes increase risks for the safety of offenders who assist authorities?

325. The second concern which has been expressed about referring publicly to assistance is that it would increase risks for the safety of the offenders concerned.

- 326. Again, the experience in NSW has not borne out this concern. The risks can be ameliorated by a number of measures which are already in place. Corrections Victoria have established procedures for the protection of prisoners who act as informers, and those procedures can be adapted for prisoners who receive a sentence reduction for providing assistance to authorities. The Witness Protection Program can be utilised in instances of very high risk. If necessary, the court can publish public sentencing reasons using pseudonyms to anonymise the case. If the court is satisfied that even such measures as these would not sufficiently ameliorate the risk, the proposed provision would allow the court to depart from the requirement of publicly referring to the fact of assistance.
- 327.In the DPP's view, the proposed reform would achieve the best balance between, on the one hand, the need for transparency in sentencing and the need to facilitate the discharge of disclosure obligations in other criminal proceedings where the offender's assistance may be relevant, and, on the other hand, concerns about the safety of the offender or the impact on ongoing investigations.

9.6 Residual issues relating to disclosure

- 328.As noted above, a court may publish public sentencing reasons under a pseudonym. This is not an uncommon practice in Victoria.
- 329.If the sentencing court has used a pseudonym for the name of the offender, the effect will generally be that the true identity of the offender cannot be revealed. This may create an additional barrier to the fulfilment of disclosure obligations. The use of a pseudonym and any other restrictions on publication will create an expectation that the fact and details of the person's cooperation with authorities will not become publicly known, or known to those who may have been affected by that cooperation. Yet prosecution disclosure obligations may require that the information be provided to an accused person in another criminal proceeding.
- 330.Under the procedural provision which is proposed above ("8.3 The Western Australian model"), a court (preferably the trial court) could make appropriate rulings or orders in relation to disclosure obligations, on an *ex parte* application if necessary. The court might determine, for example, that:
 - 1. the information relating to a sentence reduction or to assistance provided by a person to police need not be disclosed;
 - 2. disclosure of such information should be deferred to some later time; or

- 3. disclosure of the fact of cooperation (or some other information), without disclosure of the sentencing remarks or underlying documents, is sufficient to discharge the prosecution's duty of disclosure.
- 331.If it is determined that the prosecution's duty of disclosure requires the disclosure of pseudonymised or restricted sentencing remarks, it may be necessary to make an application to the sentencing court for the restrictions on publication to be lifted or varied. Such an application may require notice to persons affected.

10 Conflicts of interest and other ethical breaches

10.1 Conduct of defence lawyers

- 332. Although the focus of this Royal Commission has been on the conduct of Victoria Police, it should not be forgotten that unethical conduct and other misconduct on the part of defence lawyers has played an equally vital role.
- 333.In *AB v CD*, ¹⁸² the High Court referred to the known conduct of Ms Gobbo (referred to as EF) in relation to Tony Mokbel and six of his criminal associates (referred to there as the "Convicted Persons") in the following terms:

EF's actions in purporting to act as counsel for the Convicted Persons while covertly informing against them were fundamental and appalling breaches of EF's obligations as counsel to her clients and of EF's duties to the court.

- 334. The full extent of Ms Gobbo's unethical conduct is a matter yet to be determined by the Royal Commission. However the evidence presented to the Royal Commission to date suggests that her conduct went even further than the "fundamental and appalling breaches" referred to by the High Court in relation to the Convicted Persons.
- 335.In *Orman*, ¹⁸³ the Court of Appeal found that the conduct of Ms Gobbo caused a substantial miscarriage of justice in the trial of the appellant for murder. (The appellant was not one of the Convicted Persons referred to by the High Court.) Orman's conviction in that trial depended heavily on the evidence of a person known as Witness Q. Prior to and contemporaneously with acting as counsel for Orman in relation to other criminal proceedings against him, Ms Gobbo acted for Witness Q in criminal proceedings. During the period in which she was engaged to act for Orman, Ms Gobbo improperly took active steps to ensure that Witness Q gave evidence against Orman in the murder trial. It was on the basis of that conduct that the Court of Appeal found that a miscarriage of justice had occurred.
- 336.Ms Gobbo's conduct is not the only unethical conduct which is to be considered by the Royal Commission. In his opening address, Senior Counsel assisting the Royal Commission indicated that the Commission would be investigating seven other persons who may have acted as informers to Victoria Police in breach of obligations of confidentiality or privilege.

¹⁸² *AB v CD* [2018] HCA 58, [10].

¹⁸³ Orman v R [2019] VSCA 163.

- 337.Unethical conduct and misconduct on the part of Ms Gobbo and some other defence lawyers has, unfortunately, damaged public confidence in the profession. This is a matter of concern for the criminal justice system as a whole.
- 338.Measures to deal with such conduct can and should be addressed under paragraph 6 of the terms of reference.

10.2 Reforms to ethical rules

- 339.Conflicts of interest and other ethical breaches by defence lawyers should be addressed at source. In the submission of the DPP, that begins with clarification of the relevant ethical rules.
- 340.In light of the issues relating to Ms Gobbo's (and other legal professionals') position of conflict, the Director proposes that there be amendments to the *Legal Profession Uniform Conduct (Barristers) Rules 2015* (Barristers Rules) and the *Legal Profession Uniform Law Australian Solicitors' Conduct Rules 2015* (Solicitors Rules) to better reflect the issues faced by defence barristers and solicitors.

10.2.1 Concerns to be addressed

- 341. There are three concerns that these proposals seek to address. First, changes meant to clarify and fortify rules relating to conflicts should emphasise the obligation of each individual practitioner.
- 342. Secondly, the change in the rules seek to undermine the influence of dominant or well-resourced leaders of criminal groups. As was evidenced by the actions of Tony Mokbel, key criminal figures can control those around them by providing funds for, or briefing the same, legal counsel. This level of influence creates a significant difficulty for counsel or instructing solicitors as the ethical rules in relation to conflicts are, at times, vague and do not address specific issues such as when persons other than the client are paying for legal representation.
- 343. Thirdly, the proposed changes seek to both clarify the existing conflicts rules as well as add specific rules to cover issues faced by criminal solicitors and barristers. For example, the current Barristers Rules address conflicts by differentiating between briefs to appear and other briefs. Counsel must return a brief to appear where they act for a two or more parties in the same proceeding, and there is a real possibility that the clients' interests will be in conflict. In cases other than a brief to appear, a barrister must return a brief where they become aware of information that is relevant to their client's case, but they cannot disclose it

due to their obligations to another client. The issue with this approach is that it may not provide enough guidance in matters where counsel appears for multiple members of the same criminal syndicate in different unrelated trials.

10.2.2 Proposed rule changes

- 344. There are two key changes that the Director submits the Commission should recommend in its final report.
- 345.First, changes to both the Barristers and Solicitors Rules relating to conflict in circumstances where the person paying the fees is not the client. This is more critical in relation to the Solicitors Rules as counsel's fees are usually paid by instructing solicitors as opposed to directly from the clients. The proposed change would only be applicable to criminal proceedings¹⁸⁴ and would:
 - clarify that regardless of who pays the fees, instructions should only be obtained from the client (or the client's litigation guardian);
 - provide that where there is a conflict between the interests of the client and the interests of those paying the fees, the practitioner should only act in the best interests of the client, and should inform both the client and the person paying the fees of this; and
 - require that the practitioner return the matter or cease acting where there is a real possibility of conflict between the interests of the client and the interests of the person paying the fees.
- 346.Secondly, there should be an additional rule in both the Barristers and Solicitors Rules regarding acting for an accused or co-accused where the practitioner has previously acted for a witness. The rule would only be applicable in criminal proceedings and would provide that a defence practitioner:
 - must not act in a matter where they are aware that a witness will give evidence, and they have acted for that witness is previous criminal proceedings;
 - must, upon becoming aware that they have previously acted for the witness in a criminal trial, cease to act or return the brief as soon as practicable; and
 - must inform their client of the reason why they must return the brief or cease to act.

10.2.3 Training and continuing professional development

347. The proposed rule changes would need to be backed by an effective campaign of training and continuing professional development, by the Legal Services Commissioner and professional

The application of ethical rules to certain proceeding is widely recognised, see rules 39 to 41 of the Barristers Rules.

bodies such as the Law Institute of Victoria and the Victorian Bar. The aim should be to instil in every defence lawyer a clear understanding of their professional obligation.

10.3 Regulating the unethical conduct of defence lawyers

10.3.1 The responsibilities and duties of defence lawyers

- 348.Defence lawyers are entrusted with substantial responsibilities. They are accorded considerable independence in carrying out those responsibilities. It follows that the primary responsibility for the ethical conduct of defence lawyers rests with the lawyers themselves.
- 349. The ethical responsibilities of defence lawyers include duties to their (current and former) clients and duties to the court. Lawyers are answerable to their clients and to the courts for the performance of those duties.
- 350.A current or former client may take action to restrain a lawyer from acting where to do so would be in breach of a duty to that client. A court may, at the instance of a client, restrain a lawyer from acting on various bases. They include:
 - where, due to a previous (or even current) professional engagement, the lawyer has confidential information that belongs to the original client; 185 or
 - on the basis that the lawyer has a continuing fiduciary duty of loyalty to the client (which may continue after the retainer has ended), which precludes the lawyer from acting for a different client against the original client. 186
- 351.Although such proceedings typically arise from civil proceedings, there is no reason why they would not also apply in relation to criminal proceedings.

10.3.2 Powers and functions of regulators

- 352. Victoria, like other Australian jurisdictions, has an elaborate system for regulating the conduct of lawyers.
- 353. The Legal Services Board and Legal Services Commissioner are the primary regulatory bodies. The Board (under s.44 of the *Legal Profession Uniform Law Application Act 2014* (Vic)) and the Commissioner (under s.56 of the Act) may (and do) delegate functions to the Victorian Bar and the Law Institute of Victoria. Those bodies also have a significant role in regulating the conduct of legal practitioners.

¹⁸⁵ Prince Jefri Bolkiah v KPMG (a firm) [1999] 2 AC 222; Carindale Country Club Pty Ltd v Astill (1993) 42 FCR 307.

¹⁸⁶ Spincode Pty Ltd v Look Software Pty Ltd (2001) 4 VR 501; Pinnacle Living Pty Ltd v Elusive Image Pty Ltd [2006] VSC 202;

- 354. The Board, the Commissioner and their delegates have a range of powers and functions under the Act. Action may be taken against legal practitioners either as a result of a complaint or by the Commissioner on the Commissioner's own motion.
- 355.Amongst other things, the Board may (under Part 9.6 of the Uniform Law) apply to the Supreme Court for an injunction restraining a person from contravening the Law or the Uniform Rules.

10.3.3 The DPP as regulator of unethical defence lawyers?

- 356.In the course of hearings in this Royal Commission, there have been occasional implications or suggestions by counsel or by witnesses that the DPP should assume responsibility for monitoring and dealing with conflicts of interest or other unethical conduct by defence lawyers in connection with criminal proceedings.
- 357. Such implications and suggestions are founded on fundamental misconceptions. In our adversary system it is not, and cannot be, the responsibility of the prosecution to monitor or control the conduct of defence lawyers, both for practical reasons and for reasons of principle.
- 358.In the first place, an accused person in criminal proceedings has a fundamental right to choose their own legal representatives. In Victoria, the right is recognised not only by the common law but also in s.25(2)(d) of the *Charter of Human Right and Responsibilities*, which provides:
 - (2) A person charged with a criminal offence is entitled without discrimination to the following minimum guarantees:

. .

- (d) to be tried in person, and to defend himself or herself personally or through legal assistance chosen by him or her or, if eligible, through legal aid provided by Victoria Legal Aid under the Legal Aid Act 1978; ...
- 359.Because of this right, it is "a serious matter to prevent a party from retaining counsel and solicitor of his choice, particularly where the possibility arises upon the application of an opposite or adverse party". Indeed, "the right of choice of counsel and solicitor is so fundamental, especially in criminal proceedings, that it should not be disturbed except in the most unusual and exceptional circumstances and where no other remedy is otherwise available." ISS

¹⁸⁷ R v Khazaal (2006) 167 A Crim R 565, [88] (Whealy J).

¹⁸⁸ R v Khazaal (2006) 167 A Crim R 565, [90] (Whealy J).

- 360.Although a court has power to prevent a practitioner from acting or continuing to act in a proceeding in order to ensure the proper administration of justice, ¹⁸⁹ the DPP has found only one report of a case in Australia in which a defence lawyer has been restrained from acting for an accused person in criminal proceedings on the application of the prosecution. ¹⁹⁰ In that case, the defence lawyer was a recent former employee of the Commonwealth DPP (CDPP). CDPP made the application, not because of a risk to the accused of a miscarriage of justice, but to prevent a breach of confidence and breach of duty of loyalty owed by the lawyer to the CDPP, and on the basis that if the lawyer continued to act for the accused it would undermine the due administration of justice and the integrity of the judicial process.
- 361.In a case involving an apparent conflict between the interests of the accused and the interests of another present or former client of the lawyer, ordinarily any remedial action would be a matter for the aggrieved current or former client. If, for some reason, the aggrieved client decided to take no action, if intervention by a third party were considered necessary the appropriate party would be the regulator of legal practitioners, not the opposing party in the proceeding.
- 362.It should not be expected that the prosecution would take action when neither the affected client nor the regulator had done so. If it is always a serious matter to deprive an accused of their choice of legal representative, an application by the prosecution to do so may be particularly problematic, as it could jeopardise the perception of its detachment and objectivity, and could appear to be made for tactical reasons. It would be contrary to the nature of the adversary system and the need for independence of lawyers for the prosecution to be tasked with monitoring the conduct of defence lawyers. That is a role for independent regulators.
- 363. Moreover, from a practical point of view, the prosecution is ill-equipped to take on a role as a de facto regulator of the conduct of legal practitioners.
- 364.Conflicts of interest on the part of defence lawyers may not be apparent from information on the public record. An individual prosecutor will commonly be unaware of what other matters a lawyer has been involved in. The OPP is staffed by over 200 solicitors each of whom, at any one time, may have carriage of up to 20 different matters. Despite some

¹⁸⁹ Ismail-Zai v Western Australia (2007) 34 WAR 379; Grimwade v Meagher [1995] 1 VR 446, at 452.

¹⁹⁰ DPP (Cth) v A Legal Practitioner [2012] WASC 459. In R v Khazaal (2006) 167 A Crim R 565, a trial judge refused an application by the Commonwealth of Australia (not the prosecutor) to restrain the accused's counsel and solicitor from continuing to act on the basis they had improperly reviewed classified information in the preparation for the trial. In two Ontario cases, R v Speid (1983) 430 OR (2d) 596 and R v Robillard (1986) 18 CCC (3d) 22, defence counsel were restrained, on the application of the prosecution, from acting for an accused because of conflicts of interest.

- specialist groups within the OPP, different solicitors are tasked with carriage of a range of different matters, meaning that an individual solicitor is unlikely to know all of the relevant information that would allow them to properly assess and police conflict issues by defence counsel or instructing solicitors.
- 365. The difficulties faced by the OPP would be mirrored by those of the Crown Prosecutors and private counsel briefed to appear on the Director's behalf. A large number of Crown Prosecutors and counsel may be acting for the DPP at any given time.
- 366.Instructing solicitors or counsel for the OPP will never be appropriately apprised of all the information to properly consider whether a practitioner is in a position of conflict. This is best evidenced by Ms Gobbo's conduct, whereby she often gave advice or acted for a witness whilst not being 'on the record'. Relevantly, prosecutors will not know whether defendants or potential witnesses have consented to their counsel or solicitor being in a position of conflict, or if so whether that consent was fully informed. Nor can the prosecutor know whether the lawyer has obtained an Ethics Committee ruling on the question.
- 367.It would not assist in maintaining public confidence in the independence and impartiality of the DPP and OPP if the office were to compile and maintain a database on the conduct of defence lawyers. It would arguably be outside its statutory functions, and contrary to privacy laws, for it to do so.
- 368.Unlike statutory regulators, the DPP has no powers to investigate the conduct of defence lawyers. Nor does it have access to disciplinary records in relation to legal practitioners. Nor should it.

10.3.4 Review of the powers and functions of legal practitioner regulators

- 369.Ms Gobbo's conduct does raise questions about the capacity of the regulatory regime to deal adequately with serious ethical breaches by defence lawyers. The answer to those questions is not to shoehorn the prosecution service into an ill-fitting role. Rather the answer must involve a review of the regulatory system, the laws and procedures governing the Legal Services Commissioner and other regulators, and their capacity to monitor and respond to serious conflicts of interest and other unprofessional or unethical conduct by defence lawyers in criminal proceedings.
- 370.Particular consideration should be given to whether the functions and powers of the Legal Services Board or Legal Services Commissioner are sufficient to enable the Board or Commissioner to intervene in criminal proceedings and to seek that a practitioner be

92

restrained from acting in the proceedings or from acting for a particular client. The Board or Commissioner should have clear power to do so and to investigate and report to the court if appropriate. It would be anomalous if the only remedy available to the regulator would be the power to commence separate proceedings in the Supreme Court seeking an injunction under Part 9.6 of the Uniform Law.

11 Summary of proposals

371. In summary, the DPP's submission is as follows:

- 1. Substantial improvements are necessary in the training and in the guidance available for Victoria Police members in relation to disclosure obligations.
- 2. Victoria Police should encourage members to obtain such independent advice and increase the opportunities to do so.
- 3. Developing more efficient, effective, stable and secure information systems across Victoria Police is a matter of very considerable importance.
- 4. Section 110(e) of the CPA should be amended to insert the following into the list of material satisfying the definition of material "relevant to the alleged offence":

a list containing descriptions of any things relevant to the alleged offence which has not been included in the hand-up brief because of:

a claim of privilege or immunity; or a statutory prohibition.

- 5. The *Magistrates' Court Criminal Procedure Rules 2009* (Vic) should be amended to include a new Form which would be required to be served with a hand-up brief. The new Form would include two Schedules. Schedule 1 would list relevant material, not contained in the hand-up brief, that is the subject of a claim of privilege, public interest immunity or statutory immunity, and specify the nature of the privilege or immunity claimed for each item listed. Schedule 2 would list relevant material, not contained in the hand-up brief, that is the subject of a statutory prohibition on publication and the existence of which the informant can disclose without contravening the statutory prohibition.
- 6. Victoria Police internal policies or procedures should be amended to provide guidance to investigators on how to describe withheld material and the corresponding claims of privilege, immunity or statutory prohibition.
- 7. The regime in the CPA relating to disclosure of the particulars of previous convictions of a prosecution witness (ss.43(1)(e), 45(3), 119(e), 122, 187) should be amended so that it also applies to
 - (a) particulars of any outstanding charge against a person on whose evidence the prosecution intends to rely in the committal proceeding; and
 - (b) particulars of any charge which has been withdrawn or discontinued against such a person—

if the person is alleged to be a co-offender of the accused, or if the charge, or its withdrawal or discontinuation, is relevant to assessing the credibility of the person or is otherwise relevant to the proceeding.

- 8. The following types of material should be specifically listed as disclosable with a hand-up brief, preferably by inclusion in the list in s.110(e) of the CPA:
 - (a) if a person referred to in s.110(d)(iv) has been sentenced by a court and the court has taken into account information, co-operation or assistance that the person has provided, or has undertaken to provide, to a law enforcement agency
 - i. a copy or other record of the sentencing remarks;
 - ii. a copy of any document tendered or submitted to the court or any record of evidence to the court which specified the information or assistance provided or the undertaking given;
 - (b) a record of any undertaking, indemnity, letter of comfort or other benefit provided to a person referred to in s.110(d)(iv) by or on behalf of the prosecution in connection with the provision of a statement or of information or assistance relevant to the proceedings; and
 - (c) any other record which is relevant to the assessment of the credibility of a person referred to in s.110(d)(iv).
- 9. The following types of material should be specifically listed as disclosable with a hand-up brief, preferably by inclusion in the list in s.110(e) of the CPA:
 - a copy of -
 - (a) any victim impact statement made by the complainant that relates to the alleged offence;
 - (b) any other statement made by the complainant to any member of the police force or to a prosecutor that relates to the alleged offence and contains an acknowledgement of its truthfulness.
- 10. The *Public Prosecutions Act 1994* (Vic) should be amended by inserting a provision based on s 15A of the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1986* (NSW), with modifications to:
 - (a) define the disclosure obligation in sub-section (1) in a way that is consistent with the obligations in the CPA; and
 - (b) clarify the circumstances in which information subject to a claim of privilege, public interest immunity or statutory immunity or to a statutory publication restriction should be provided to the DPP.

11. The CPA should be amended to include a provision along the following lines:

185AA Certification of disclosure

After being served with a copy of the documents referred to in section 183, the prosecution must within 14 days (or such other time as the court directs) serve on the accused and file in court a certificate by the law enforcement officer in charge of the case confirming the compliance by the relevant investigating agency with its duties of disclosure under this Act and section *** of the Public Prosecutions Act 1994 (Vic).

- 12. The form of the disclosure certificate should be prescribed by regulations. The certificate should attest that, to the best of the officer's knowledge and belief, all applicable disclosure requirements under the CPA (including ongoing requirements) and the requirements under the proposed provision in the *Public Prosecutions Act* have been complied with by the relevant investigating agency.
- 13. At the time of serving and filing the certificate, the prosecution should also be required to serve an updated list of material withheld on privilege/immunity or statutory prohibition grounds, if that list has changed since the time of the hand-up brief.
- 14. A statutory regime should be introduced for the establishment of an independent Disclosure Monitor (DM) to conduct ongoing systemic audits and reviews of Victoria Police's compliance with disclosure obligations (including obligations arising from other amendments proposed in this submission). The regime should have the following features:
 - (a) The functions and powers of the DM should be vested in an independent body established by statute. Whether the function should be vested in an existing body (such as IBAC) or a new body established for the purpose would be a matter for consideration by Government.
 - (b) To ensure its independence, the DM should not be part of, or report to, the DPP or Victoria Police. Nor should the DM, or its staff, hold positions with the OPP or Victoria Police.
 - (c) The main function of the DM should be to monitor and report on the practices and procedures of Victoria Police in relation to the disclosure of disclosable material to accused persons and of the existence of potentially-disclosable unused material to the OPP. The objective should be systemic: that is, reviews should be directed at identifying general shortcomings in disclosure practices, in order to improve guidance to police for future cases.

- (d) Reviews would focus on police procedures and practices. The DM's function would not be to second-guess or overturn police disclosure decisions. It should be made clear that the role of the DM does not extend to forming or expressing a view about whether particular material in a particular case was or was not disclosable or potentially-disclosable.
- (e) The DM would also have no power to review or express a view about the correctness of DPP disclosure decisions.
- (f) The identification of matters for review and the appropriate methodology for reviews should be generally be a matter for the discretion of the DM. The DM should be authorised to consult with interested persons or bodies in making these decisions.
- (g) The DM should have all necessary powers to conduct its reviews, including having access to all police records, powers to interview members of Victoria Police, and powers to summon material. In cases involving human sources, this would include full access to relevant information relating to those sources, with appropriate arrangements to ensure security.
- (h) The DM should report to Parliament, at least annually, on the results of its reviews and on progress by Victoria Police in addressing any issues raised by the DM. Reports by the DM would address overall compliance by police with disclosure requirements, identify specific areas for improvement and suggest changes to police practices, procedures and guidelines as appropriate.
- (i) In the DM's reports, any references to disclosure practices in particular cases would be de-identified and data would be presented in aggregate form. Individual police members would not be named or referred to in an identifiable way in relation to disclosure practices, nor would identifying information be published about particular cases.
- (j) The DM should also have a role in training of Victoria Police members in relation to disclosure.
- (k) A document that formed part of a review by the DM should be an exempt document under Part IV of the *Freedom of Information Act 1982*.
- 15. A statutory procedure for the determination of disclosure issues by a court should be introduced into the CPA. Taking s.138 of the *Criminal Procedure Act 2004* (WA) as the starting point, the Victorian provision should have the following features:
 - (a) it should allow a court to make orders on its own initiative;

- (b) it should allow an application for orders to be made by a party to the proceeding or by an investigating agency that holds documents subject to a disclosure requirement;
- (c) it should allow an application to be made at any time during a criminal proceeding;
- (d) in addition to allowing the application to be made to the court in which the proceeding is being heard, where the proceeding is before the Magistrates' Court it should allow an application to be made to the County Court (where appropriate) or the Supreme Court;
- (e) it should allow applications to be made without notice to the accused;
- (f) it should give the court the power to make a wide range of orders in relation to disclosure requirements, including powers to: dispense with disclosure requirements; shorten or extend the time for obeying disclosure requirements; make disclosure subject to conditions; and confirm, vary or set aside a previous order relating to disclosure requirements;
- (g) it should allow orders to be made in respect of both statutory and common law disclosure requirements;
- (h) it should state that a court can dispense with disclosure requirements on specific, recognised grounds, such as PII, privilege, statutory prohibition or a court order;
- (i) it should provide that orders made by the Magistrates' Court are deemed to be orders of the County Court or Supreme Court (as applicable) once an accused is committed for trial, and that the County Court or Supreme Court (as the case may be) is required to review and confirm, vary or set aside the order prior to the commencement of the trial; and
- (j) consideration should be given to allowing the PIM to act as a contradictor in any application made by a law enforcement agency that is made without notice to the accused.
- 16. To assist in compliance with disclosure obligations where a prosecution witness has previously provided assistance to authorities and has received a sentencing discount as a result (a matter which may be relevant to that person's credibility or reliability), section 5 of the *Sentencing Act 1991* should be amended to require a sentencing court that has reduced an offender's sentence because of assistance to authorities (either past or future) to expressly state that fact in the unrestricted, publicly available version of the sentencing

reasons. The sentencing court would not be required to set out the details of the assistance in the unrestricted sentencing reasons. The requirement would not apply where to reveal the fact of assistance would seriously endanger the life of the offender or another person, and that risk to safety cannot be ameliorated by the making of an order under the *Open Courts Act 2013*, an order under any other statute restricting the disclosure of information, or a pseudonym or broad suppression order in the exercise of the court's inherent jurisdiction.

- 17. The Barristers Rules and the Solicitors Rules should be amended, in relation to criminal proceedings:
 - (a) to clarify that regardless of who pays the fees, instructions should only be obtained from the client (or the client's litigation guardian);
 - (b) to provide that where there is a conflict between the interests of the client and the interests of those paying the fees, the practitioner should only act in the best interests of the client, and should inform both the client and the person paying the fees of this; and
 - (c) to require that the practitioner return the matter or cease acting where there is a real possibility of conflict between the interests of the client and the interests of the person paying the fees.
- 18. The Barristers Rules and the Solicitors Rules should be amended by adding a rule to provide that, in relation to criminal proceedings, a defence practitioner:
 - (a) must not act in a matter where they are aware that a witness will give evidence, and they have acted for that witness is previous criminal proceedings;
 - (b) must, upon becoming aware that they have previously acted for the witness in a criminal trial, cease to act or return the brief as soon as practicable; and
 - (c) must inform their client of the reason why they must return the brief or cease to act.
- 19. The proposed rule changes should be backed by an effective campaign of training and continuing professional development by the Legal Services Commissioner and professional bodies such as the Law Institute of Victoria and the Victorian Bar.
- 20. The DPP should not be expected to assume responsibility for monitoring and dealing with conflicts of interest or other unethical conduct by defence lawyers in connection with criminal proceedings.
- 21. A review should be undertaken of the laws and procedures governing the Legal Services Board, the Legal Services Commissioner and other regulators of the legal profession in

99

relation to their capacity to monitor and respond to serious conflicts of interest and other unprofessional or unethical conduct by defence lawyers in criminal proceedings. A particular issue in such a review should be the capacity of the Board or the Commissioner to intervene in in criminal proceedings and to seek that a practitioner be restrained from acting in the proceedings or from acting for a particular client and to investigate and report to the court if appropriate.

372. This summary should not be taken out of context or read in isolation from the detailed discussion of the issues in this submission.